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Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis includes forward-looking statements about the Company, including its business operations,
strategy and expected financial performance and condition. Forward-looking statements include statements that are predictive in nature,
depend upon or refer to future events or conditions, or include words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” or
negative versions thereof and similar expressions. In addition, any statement that may be made concerning future financial performance
(including revenues, earnings or growth rates), ongoing business strategies or prospects, and possible future action on our part, is also a
forward-looking statement. Forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and projections about future events and are
inherently subject to, among other things, risks, uncertainties and assumptions about our operations, economic factors and the financial
services industry generally. They are not guarantees of future performance, and actual events and results could differ materially from
those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements made by us due to, but not limited to, important factors such as general economic, political and market factors in North America and internationally, interest and foreign exchange rates, global equity and capital
markets, business competition, technological change, changes in government regulations, unexpected judicial or regulatory proceedings,
catastrophic events and our ability to complete strategic transactions and integrate acquisitions. We caution that the foregoing list is not
exhaustive. The reader is cautioned to consider these and other factors carefully and not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. We are under no obligation (and expressly disclaim any such obligation) to update or alter the forward-looking statements whether
as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Please see the “Factors that May Affect Future Results” section for a further
discussion of factors that may affect actual results.
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Consolidated Performance
Overview
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) presents an analysis of the financial condition of AGF Management Limited
and its subsidiaries as at November 30, 2004 compared with November 30, 2003, and the results of operations for the year
ended November 30, 2004 compared with the corresponding period of 2003. This discussion should be read in conjunction
with our audited Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes for 2004.
Throughout this discussion, percentage changes are calculated based on results rounded to the nearest thousand.
Results, except per share information, are presented in millions of dollars.
AGF Management Limited (“AGF”), with over $31.4 billion in Assets Under Management (“AUM”), is one of Canada’s
largest independent mutual fund and investment management companies with operations in Canada, England, Ireland,
Singapore, China and Japan. We commenced operations in 1957 with one of the first mutual funds available to Canadians wishing to invest internationally, and as at November 30, 2004 offered over 50 mutual funds to investment advisors and their clients.
While the Canadian mutual fund business remains the mainstay of our business, representing 72.5% of AUM, a growing
portion of our revenues is now being earned from institutional and private investment management AUM.
As at November 30, 2004, institutional and private investment management AUM grew to $8.6 billion, an increase of
70.7% over November 30, 2003. Much of this increase was attributable to the acquisitions of P.J. Doherty & Associates and
Cypress Capital Management Ltd. during the year. With 27.5% of our AUM coming from investment management relationships
outside of the traditional mutual fund business, we are a much more diversified organization from an investment management
perspective as compared to prior years. Our business diversity and mix of investment products positions us well for future
growth opportunities.
For purposes of this discussion, the operations of AGF Management Limited and our subsidiary companies are referred
to as “we,” “us,” “our” or the “Company.” The financial results relating to the operations have been reported in three segments:
Investment Management Operations, Fund Administration Operations and Trust Company Operations.
The principal subsidiaries and associated companies included within each of our reportable segments, which are collectively referenced as the AGF Group of Companies (“the AGF Group”), include:

Investment Management Operations Segment
AGF Funds Inc. (“AGFFI”) – provides investment management and advisory services and is responsible for the sales and
marketing of the AGF mutual funds. Based on AUM, AGF Funds Inc. is one of the larger mutual fund organizations in Canada.
We manage approximately 50 mutual funds totaling $22.7 billion in AUM. In addition, we manage international and domestic
AUM through or under separate investment management mandates totaling $3.9 billion. In certain instances these mandates
are advised by or managed directly by international operations listed below.
AGF Private Investment Management Limited (“PIM”) – provides personalized investment counselling services for high-networth clients, estates, endowments, institutions and corporations. With the completion of the acquisitions of P.J. Doherty &
Associates Co. Ltd. (“P.J. Doherty”) for consideration of $12.2 million on January 15, 2004, and Cypress Capital Management
Ltd. (“Cypress”) for consideration of $26.1 million on June 30, 2004, we now have a national network of high-net-worth
investment firms with total AUM of $4.7 billion.
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AGF International Advisors Company Limited – Dublin-based and established in 1991, this operation provides investment
research and advisory services on European and other international markets for the AGF mutual funds and other clients. In
addition, they also have investment management mandates.
AGF Asset Management Asia Ltd. – Singapore-based and established in 1996, this operation provides investment research
and advisory services on Asian markets for the AGF mutual funds and other clients.

Fund Administration Operations Segment
Unisen Inc. (“Unisen”) – based in Mississauga, Ontario, Unisen Inc. offers comprehensive third-party administration services
and transfer agency software solutions to the financial services industry. Our Investment Management Operations segment
currently represents the most significant source of revenue for Unisen.
Investmaster Group Limited – a wholly owned subsidiary that is a leading supplier of software products and services to the
private wealth management community in the U.K.

Trust Company Operations Segment
AGF Trust Company – in operation since 1988, AGF Trust offers a broad range of web-enabled products and services, including
GICs, term deposits, mortgages, investment loans and RSP loans. AGF Trust is federally incorporated and licensed across
Canada and is a member of the Canadian Payments Association.

Other Segment
Smith & Williamson Holdings Limited – a leading, independent private client investment management, financial advisory and
accounting group based in the U.K. We hold a 31.6% interest in this company as at November 30, 2004.
The following discussion provides details of our overall corporate business strategy and achievements in connection with
these strategies in fiscal 2004 and is followed by a discussion of our Key Performance Indicators, which are measures that
we use to determine whether or not we have been successful in achieving our stated strategies.
It is also important to understand that significant risks and uncertainties related to our business exist that may prevent
us from achieving our strategies. An overview of Factors that May Affect Future Results (Risk Factors) related to our business
has also been provided.
Finally, a discussion of Critical Accounting Policies follows. These accounting policies are an integral part of the preparation
of our financial statements and require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amount of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses reported in our financial statements.
With an understanding of our corporate strategy, relevant measures to determine success, an understanding of the
risk factors and critical accounting policies, the discussion that follows should give readers a management perspective
of our operations.

Corporate Strategy
AGF Management Limited helps to identify and facilitate opportunities for our business segments and ensures segment strategies are aligned with the overall corporate strategy of targeting sustainability, profitability and value for our shareholders over the
long term. As stated in our 2003 MD&A, our principal focus in fiscal 2004 was to strengthen the core investment management
business, while at the same time actively continuing the diversification of revenue sources both by industry and geography.
Our execution of this strategy continues and in 2004 we achieved the following:
• Restructured our businesses to better serve our clients and added significant management strength through key hires
in our senior management ranks.
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• Acquired Cypress and P.J. Doherty for combined consideration of $38.3 million in an effort to bolster our industry
position in private investment management and provide investment management expertise that allowed us to market
new products in early 2005.
• Delivered value directly to our shareholders through dividend payments and our share buy back program.
i.) Dividends paid on AGF Class A voting common shares and AGF Class B non-voting shares increased to $37.5 million
in 2004 as compared with $27.2 million in fiscal 2003. This represented an increase of $0.115 per share or 39.0%
over the $0.295 per share paid in 2003.
ii.) Significantly increased activity with respect to our share buy back program. Repurchased 2,099,800 AGF Class B
non-voting shares during 2004 as compared with repurchases of 503,300 shares in fiscal 2003.
• Delivered strong year-over-year financial growth in the Fund Administration Operations and Trust Company Operations
segments of our business.
• Commenced a disciplined review of support entities to determine how each entity fits into our long-range business
strategies, how operating synergies may be realized and how returns from each business segment can be maximized.
We remain committed to our corporate strategy that targets sustainability, profitability and value for our shareholders in
the years to come, and a further discussion of specific business segment strategies is included in the segment discussions.

Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures
We measure the success of our business strategies using a number of key performance indicators, which are outlined
below. With the exception of revenue, the following key performance indicators are not measurements in accordance with
Canadian GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net income or any other measure of performance under
Canadian GAAP. Segment discussions include a review of key performance indicators that are relevant to each segment.

Assets Under Management (“AUM”)
AUM are critical to our business as it is from these assets that we generate fees from our mutual fund, institutional and private
investment management relationships. AUM fluctuate in value as a result of investment performance, sales and redemptions.
In addition, AUM determines a significant portion of our expenses, as we pay upfront commissions and trailing commissions
to investment advisors as well as investment advisory fees based on the value of AUM.

Investment Performance (Market Appreciation of Fund Portfolios)
Investment performance, which is shown net of management fees received, is a key driver of the level of AUM and is central
to the value proposition that we offer advisors and unitholders. Growth in AUM resulting from investment performance
increases the wealth of our unitholders and in turn we benefit from higher revenues. Alternatively, poor investment performance may result in redemptions, which in turn reduce our AUM and revenues. Strong investment performance may also contribute to gross sales growth or reduced levels of redemptions.

Net Sales
One of the goals of our mutual fund business is to generate positive net sales on an annual basis, which in turn allows for
increasing revenues. Gross sales and redemptions as a percentage of AUM are monitored separately. The sum of these two
amounts composes net sales, which together with investment performance determines the level of average daily mutual
fund AUM, the basis on which management fees are charged.
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Revenue
Revenue is a measurement defined by Canadian GAAP and is recorded net of fee rebates and taxes. Revenue is indicative of
the potential to deliver cash flow.
We derive our revenue principally from a combination of:
• Management and advisory fees based on the net asset value of funds under management.
• Administration fees earned.
• Deferred sales charges (“DSC”) earned from investors when mutual fund securities sold on a DSC basis are redeemed.
• Net interest earned on our Trust Company loan portfolio.

EBITDA
We define EBITDA as income before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is a standard
measure used in the mutual fund industry by management, investors and investment analysts in understanding and comparing
results. We believe this is an important measure as it allows us to assess our ongoing businesses without the impact of
amortization and is an indicator of our ability to incur or service debt, invest in our business, finance sales commissions,
pay dividends and execute share repurchase programs.

Cash Flow from Operations
We report cash flow from operations before net changes in non-cash balances related to operations. Cash flow from operations
helps to assess the ability of the business to generate cash, which is used to pay dividends, repurchase shares, pay down
debt and fund other needs for cash.

Return on Equity (ROE) and Return on Investment (ROI)
We monitor return on equity to access the profitability of the consolidated company. We calculate ROE by dividing net income
by average shareholders’ equity. ROI is a key performance indicator that we utilize to assess prospective investments and to
monitor past investments. ROI measures cash flow in relation to the original amount invested and incorporates the time
value of money.

Loan Asset Growth
In the Trust segment we focus on asset growth, as it drives net interest income and increases profitability. We target
double-digit growth in assets and expect that mortgage lending will continue to make up a large part of future asset growth.

Efficiency Ratio
In the Trust segment we also monitor the efficiency ratio, which is calculated by dividing non-interest expenses by the total of
net interest income and fee income. Our goal is to contain growth in non-interest expenses below revenue growth and
achieve an efficiency ratio of less than 50%.

Factors that May Affect Future Results (Risk Factors)
There are many factors that may affect our ability to execute against our strategy. Some of these factors are within our
control and others, because of their nature, are beyond our control. These factors apply to our corporate strategy as well as
the business-specific strategies that are included in the segment discussions that follow.

Company-Specific Factors
Demand for our products depends on the ability of our investment management team to deliver value in the form of strong
investment returns, as well as the demand for specific investment products. A specific fund manager’s style may fall out of
favour with the market, resulting in lower sales and/or higher redemptions.
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Our future financial performance will be influenced by our ability to successfully execute our sales and marketing strategy
and improve our net sales. We have committed resources to building systems and attracting talented people. If sales do not
materialize as planned, margins may erode.
Our strategy includes strategic acquisitions. There is no assurance that we will be able to complete acquisitions on
terms and conditions that satisfy our investment criteria. After transactions are completed, meeting target return objectives
is contingent upon many factors, including retaining key employees and growth in AUM of the acquired companies.
The success of our review of support entities will be influenced by whether strategic options being considered are available
under terms that we view as beneficial to shareholders.
Most of our AUM are from investment advisors or strategic partners that offer our products along with competing products. AGF’s brand and investment performance have contributed to our success in the past. However, our future success is
dependent on access to distribution channels that are independent of our company.

Non-Company Factors
The level of competition in the industry is high. Sales and redemptions of mutual funds may be influenced by relative service
levels, management fees, attributes of specific products in the marketplace and actions taken by competitors.
We take all reasonable measures to ensure compliance with governing statutes, regulations or regulatory policies.
However, a failure to comply with statutes, regulations or regulatory policies could result in sanctions or fines that could
adversely affect earnings and reputation. Changes to laws, statutes, regulations or regulatory policies could affect us by
changing certain economic factors in our industry. See the Government Regulations section for further details.
Our revenue is highly correlated to the daily value of AUM. As a result, revenues are generally not subject to significant
seasonal swings. We experience somewhat higher sales during the RSP season, however, the immediate impact of the level
of sales on total revenue is not significant. The “Selected Quarterly Information” table shows key performance statistics for
the past eight quarters.

Foreign Exchange Risk
Our main foreign exchange risk derives from the U.S. and international portfolio securities held in the mutual fund AUM. Change
in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to foreign currencies will cause fluctuations in the Canadian dollar value of nonCanadian AUM upon which our management fees are calculated. We monitor this risk, and may, at the discretion of the fund
manager, enter into foreign exchange contracts to hedge foreign exposure on U.S. and international securities held in funds.
We are subject to foreign exchange risk on our integrated foreign subsidiaries in Ireland and Singapore, which provide
investment advisory services. These subsidiaries retain minimal monetary exposure to the local currency, their revenues are
calculated in Canadian dollars and the local currency expenses are comparatively small.

Interest Rate Risk
Excluding the AGF Trust operations, we are exposed to the risk related to changes in interest rates on $48.5 million of floating
rate debt at November 30, 2004. The effect of a 1% change in variable interest rates on this debt in fiscal 2004 would have
resulted in a change of approximately $0.5 million in interest expense for the year ended November 30, 2004. As the amount of
interest paid is small relative to our operating cash flow, such a change in interest rates would not have a material impact on
the results of operations or the fair value of the related debt.
For the AGF Trust operations, the impact of a 1% change in interest rates would be a change of annual net interest income
of approximately $0.2 million.
The foregoing discussion is not an exhaustive list of all risks and uncertainties with respect to our ability to execute against
our strategy and readers are cautioned to consider other potential risk factors when assessing our ability to execute
against our strategy.
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Critical Accounting Policies
Accounting policies are an integral part of the preparation of our financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in Canada. Understanding these policies is a key factor in understanding our reported results of operations
and financial position. See Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of all of our significant
accounting policies. Certain critical accounting policies require us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amount
of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses reported in the financial statements. Due to their nature, estimates involve judgment
based on available information. Therefore, actual results or amounts could differ from estimates and the difference could have
a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
We consider the following to be among our current accounting policies that involve significant estimates or judgments.

Valuation of Goodwill, Management Contracts and Other Intangible Assets
Under Canadian GAAP, goodwill and management contracts are not amortized, but instead assessed for impairment at the
reporting unit level on at least an annual basis. Goodwill and management contracts are assessed for impairment using a
two-step approach, with the first step being to assess whether the fair value of the reporting unit with which the goodwill is
associated is less than its carrying value. When the fair value of the reporting unit is less than the carrying value, a second
impairment test is performed. The second test requires a comparison of the fair value of goodwill and management contracts
to their carrying amount. If the fair value of goodwill and management contracts is less than their carrying value, goodwill and
management contracts are considered to be impaired and a charge for impairment must be recognized immediately. The fair
value of our reporting units is determined from internally developed valuation models that consider various factors, such as
normalized and projected earnings, price-earnings multiples and discount rates. We use judgment in estimating the fair value
of reporting units and imprecision in any assumptions and estimates used in fair value calculations could influence the
determination of the goodwill and management contracts impairment and affect the valuation of goodwill and management
contracts. We believe the assumptions and estimates used are reasonable and supportable in the existing environment.
Where possible, fair values generated internally are compared to market information and are found to be reasonable.
Intangible assets that derive their value from contractual customer relationships or that can be separated and sold, and
have a finite useful life, are amortized over their estimated useful life. Determining the estimated useful life of these finite
life intangible assets requires an analysis of the circumstances and judgment. Finite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment whenever circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Such circumstances would
indicate potential intangible asset impairment and would require a cash flow analysis at that time. As a result, recoverable
value based on expected future cash flows is similar to other capital assets.

Income Taxes
The recognition of future tax assets depends on management’s assumption that future earnings will be sufficient to realize
the future benefit. The amount of the asset or liability recorded is based on management’s best estimate of the timing of the
realization of the asset or liability.

Amortization Policies and Useful Lives
We amortize the cost of property, equipment and other intangible assets over the estimated useful service lives of the items.
On an annual basis, we reassess the existing estimates of useful lives to ensure they match the anticipated life from a revenue
producing perspective.

Accounting for Deferred Sales Commissions
Selling commissions paid on mutual fund securities are recorded at cost and are amortized on a straight-line basis over a
period that corresponds with the applicable deferred sales commission (“DSC”) schedule. The unamortized DSC amount on
the balance sheet is compared to the value that would be realized if all outstanding DSC securities were redeemed as at the
balance sheet date. If the calculated realization value is less than the unamortized amount on the balance sheet, a writedown of the balance sheet amount is required.

30

AGF Management Limited / Annual Report 2004

Accounting for Loan Losses
Accounting for loan losses is an area of importance given the size of the AGF Trust Company’s loan portfolio. Loan impairment
is recognized when we determine, based on the identification and evaluation of problem loans and accounts, that the timely
collection of all contractually due interest and principal payments is no longer assured. Judgment is required as to the timing
of designating a loan as impaired and the amount of the required specific allowance. Judgment is based on an assessment of
probability of default, loss given default and exposure at default. Changes in these estimates due to a number of circumstances
can have a direct impact on the provision for loan losses and may result in a change in the allowance. General allowances also
require judgment given that the level of general allowances depends upon an assessment of business and economic conditions,
historical and expected loss experience, loan portfolio composition and other relevant indicators.

Contingencies
We are subject to various claims and contingencies related to lawsuits, taxes and commitments under contractual and other
commercial obligations. The company recognizes liabilities for contingencies and commitments when a loss is probable and
capable of being reasonably estimated. Significant changes in assumptions as to the likelihood and estimates of the amount
of loss could result in a change in the recognition of a liability.

Consolidated Operating Results
The table below summarizes our Consolidated Operating Results for the years ended November 30, 2004 and 2003.
($ millions, except per share amounts)

Years ended November 30
Revenue
Expenses
EBITDA1
Amortization
Interest expense
Income taxes
Net income
Cash flow from operations2
Per share amounts - diluted
Cash flow from operations
Earnings
Return on equity

2004
$

639.9
387.4

2003
$

600.8
316.5

6.5%
22.4%
(11.2%)
2.5%
(36.7%)
(89.6%)
75.6%
(0.4%)

0.4%
78.7%

$
$

252.5
161.5
6.1
7.6
77.3
207.8

$
$

284.3
157.4
9.7
73.2
44.0
208.5

$
$

2.26
0.84

$
$

2.25
0.47

8.5%

% change

4.9%

1

As previously defined, see the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures - EBITDA” section. The items required to reconcile EBITDA to net income,
a defined term under Canadian GAAP, are detailed above.

2

Cash flow from operations before net change in non-cash balances related to operations.
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Consolidated revenues increased by 6.5% for the year ended November 30, 2004, with all business segments reporting
revenue growth. Investment Management Operations revenue grew 8.0% on the strength of higher average daily mutual fund
AUM and the acquisition of P.J. Doherty and Cypress. Fund Administration Operations revenue increased by 0.5% in fiscal 2004
as compared with fiscal 2003, as revenues from parties outside the AGF Group grew by 4.9% offset by reductions in revenues
earned from the AGF Group. Trust Company Operations revenues increased by 18.7% in fiscal 2004 over 2003 on the strength
of increased mortgages and consumer loans. The increases in business segment revenues in 2004 were offset by the fact that
2003 consolidated revenues included a gain of $12.8 million resulting from the disposition of an investment in an associated
company.
Expenses increased by 22.4% in fiscal 2004 as compared with 2003. The majority of this increase is in the Investment
Management Operations segment.
EBITDA declined by 11.2% for the year ended November 30, 2004 over the respective 2003 period, predominantly due to
one-time items recorded in the fourth quarter of 2004 and the $12.8 million gain on disposition of investment recorded in
fiscal 2003. Excluding these amounts, EBITDA increased by 4.4% in fiscal 2004 as compared with fiscal 2003.
Amortization expenses remained relatively flat for the year ended November 30, 2004, increasing by 2.5% compared with
the corresponding period in 2003. Amortization of deferred selling commissions in the Investment Management Operations
segment accounted for $121.7 million of the total amortization expense and was the driver in the year-over-year increase.
Interest expense decreased to $6.1 million for the year ended November 30, 2004 from $9.7 million in the same period
in 2003. The decrease is primarily a result of lower average outstanding loan balances in 2004 as compared with 2003 and a
reduction in interest expense recorded in marking to market the interest rate swaps.
Income tax expense for the year ended November 30, 2004 was $7.6 million as compared with $73.2 million in 2003.
Fiscal 2004 tax expenses were reduced by $15.7 million related to tax benefits acquired and utilized in 2004. The fiscal 2003
tax expense of $73.2 million included a $40.2 million charge related to the change in future Ontario provincial income tax rates.
The impact of the above revenue and expense items resulted in net income of $77.3 million in fiscal 2004 as compared
with $44.0 million in fiscal 2003. Diluted earnings per share were up 78.7% in 2004 as compared with 2003.
For a more detailed discussion of revenue and expense items, refer to the individual operating segment discussions.
An analysis of the 2004 fourth quarter results is included under the heading “Fourth Quarter Analysis.”

Outlook
After a period of rapid growth and consolidation of industry players, we believe that the investment fund industry in Canada is
now in the early stages of maturity. Despite the maturity of the industry, demand for investment products will remain strong,
as a significant amount of unused Registered Retirement Savings Plan contribution room exists in Canada. Mutual funds
remain a very accessible and attractive solution for these retirement accounts. We also believe the demand for income/yield
producing products will continue.
We plan to capitalize on opportunities for growth in the future, primarily by introducing innovative products and focusing
on the needs of our clients and strategic partners.
Bolstering our sales force, introducing new products, and the competitive fee environment may result in reduced margins
and a moderation of AGF’s financial performance in 2005.
Business-specific outlooks are included in the segment discussions.

Business Segment Performance
We report on three business segments: Investment Management Operations, Fund Administration Operations and Trust
Company Operations. The Investment Management Operations Segment provides investment management and advisory
services and is responsible for the management and distribution of the AGF investment products and services, including
retail mutual fund operations and high-net-worth client investment counseling services. The Fund Administration Operations
segment offers fund administrative services and transfer agency solutions to institutional clients in Canada and the U.K.,
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including the AGF mutual funds. The Trust Company Operations Segment offers a wide range of trust services and
products including GICs, mortgages, investment loans and RSP loans. The “Other” segment includes the results of
Smith & Williamson Holdings Limited (“S&WHL”), which are accounted for by the equity method, and the interest expense
on our long-term debt. AGF’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services.

Investment Management Operations
Business and Industry Profile
Our Investment Management Operations segment provides products and services across the wealth continuum, including
mutual funds, wrap products and private investment management. Our products are delivered through multiple channels,
including advisors, financial planners, banks, life insurance companies and consultants.
Investment management remains a highly competitive business with numerous domestic as well as foreign players serving
the market. We believe that although the mutual fund business is reaching the early stages of maturity, there are many
opportunities for growth. Consolidation in the mutual fund industry, particularly in distribution, has changed the competitive
landscape. Some players have utilized vertical integration as a means to replace third-party product with proprietary product.
We believe that such behaviour may create regulatory pressure to address conflicts of interest. The majority of industry participants have expanded and opened their distribution channels to allow for best-of-breed products for their clients. We believe
our status as an independent fund manufacturer with no distribution channel conflict will benefit us as the industry continues
to evolve.
Mutual fund industry sales have recently been concentrated in income-oriented products. During AGF’s fiscal 2004 period,
industry sales of equity mutual funds were in net redemptions, while bond and dividend income funds represented 73.9% of
industry sales. We believe this trend is partly due to secular factors associated with an aging population. The fact that our
product line-up was not particularly strong in these areas negatively impacted our gross sales results.

Investment Management Operations Segment Strategy
The strategic priorities for our investment management operations are to continue to build on the 2004 initiatives to enhance
our client-centric organization. Strategic initiatives include:
• Reinforce AGF’s investment management excellence.
• Build a client-centric organization focused on multi-channel distribution.
• Pursue strategic acquisitions to supplement organic growth.

Reinforce AGF’s Investment Management Excellence
Continually supporting and improving our investment management operations is central to the vision of our company. We
strive for excellence and consistency in our funds. Introducing products that meet the needs of today’s investor is a central
part of this strategy. We believe that investors will continue to demand income funds as an increasing portion of Canadians
near retirement.
Consistent with our stated strategy of new product introductions, and as a result of efforts in fiscal 2004, in early January
2005 we increased the distributions on certain existing funds and announced the launch of two new income-generating funds:
AGF Monthly High Income and AGF Diversified Dividend Income.
We also announced a low-load purchase option for all funds (except AGF Managed Futures). Low load is a method of
purchasing mutual funds that provides an alternative to the front end and DSC purchase options.
In addition to product announcements, in January 2005, we introduced Tony Genua as the new manager of AGF American
Growth Class. This change to our flagship fund is a prime example of our dedication to investment management excellence.
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Build a Client-Centric Organization Focused on Multi-Channel Distribution
We have chosen to utilize independent channels of distribution. We believe that supporting independent advice is an attractive
distribution model. Our focus is on effective execution of a multi-channel distribution approach. We now have tactical plans in
place in three broad distribution categories: the advisor channel, national accounts and institutional. In each channel, we
strive to make it easy to do business with AGF.

Pursue Strategic Acquisitions to Supplement Organic Growth
Our organic growth will be supplemented by acquisitions in the Investment Management Operations Segment. We have a
disciplined acquisition approach: AGF targets long-term after-tax return on investments in excess of 15% per annum. We look
for acquisitions that have a financial as well as a strategic rationale, such as our investments in P.J. Doherty and Cypress.
Our approach to managing capital requires us to consider acquisitions in the context of various other uses of capital,
including share repurchases, dividends and reinvesting in the business.

Assets Under Management
The primary sources of revenue for AGF’s investment management operations are management and advisory fees. The
amount of management and advisory fees is dependent on the level and composition of AUM. Under the management and
investment advisory contracts between AGF and each of the mutual funds, we are entitled to monthly fees based on a specified
percentage of the average daily net asset value of the respective fund. In addition, we earn fees on our institutional and private
investment management AUM. As a result, the level of AUM has a significant influence on financial results. The following
table illustrates the composition of the changes in total AUM during the years ended November 30, 2004 and 2003:
($ millions)

Years ended November 30
Mutual fund AUM, beginning of year

2004
$

23,168

2003
$

% change

23,549

(1.6%)

Gross sales of mutual funds
Redemption of mutual funds
Net mutual fund redemptions

2,586
(4,772)
(2,186)

2,271
(4,019)
(1,748)

13.9%
18.7%
25.1%

Market appreciation of fund portfolios

1,765

1,367

29.1%

23,168

(1.8%)

5,049

70.7%

Mutual fund AUM, end of year

$

Institutional and PIM AUM

22,747

$

8,621

Total AUM

$

31,368

$

28,217

11.2%

Average daily mutual fund AUM for the year

$

23,759

$

22,203

7.0%

Total AUM increased by 11.2% on the strength of growth related to institutional and private investment management
AUM. The acquisitions of P.J. Doherty and Cypress were the primary contributors to the year-over-year growth.
Mutual fund AUM were down slightly on a year-over-year basis, however, average daily mutual fund AUM were up 7.0%
and a major contributor to the improved revenues in 2004 as compared with 2003.
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Details of mutual fund net sales and investment performance were as follows:
Net Sales
Net sales are a key performance indicator for our Investment Management Operations segment. AGF experienced net
redemptions of $2.2 billion during fiscal 2004, falling short of our goal of generating positive net sales. Portfolio rebalancing by three institutional clients contributed $299.9 million to these net redemptions. AGF’s lack of income-oriented
mutual funds, which were in favour with investors during our fiscal 2004, contributed to the weakness in gross sales. The
strategic refocusing completed in the third quarter of fiscal 2004 included a comprehensive product audit and the launch
of new funds in early 2005. The overall goal of the refocusing was to improve gross sales and reduce redemptions.
Investment Performance
Stock market performance influences the level of AUM. During the year ended November 30, 2004, the Canadian-dollaradjusted S&P 500 Index rose 1.8%, the Canadian-dollar-adjusted NASDAQ Index fell 1.9% and the S&P/TSX Composite
Index rose 14.9%. The total market appreciation of our mutual fund assets for the year ended November 30, 2004 divided
by the average daily mutual fund AUM for the year equals 7.4%.
The impact of the U.S. dollar decline relative to the Canadian dollar on the market value of AGF mutual funds since
November 30, 2003 has been a reduction in AUM of approximately $0.5 billion.
Consistent with the rise in the stock market, market appreciation net of management fees increased mutual fund AUM
by $1.8 billion since November 30, 2003. For the five-year period ended November 30, 2004, 62% of ranked AUM performed
above median. Over the 10-year period ended November 30, 2004, 75% of ranked AUM performed above median.
Strong market performance combined with solid performance by our fund managers has served to preserve the
overall mutual fund AUM position as at November 30, 2004 compared with November 30, 2003.
The composition of our mutual fund AUM is summarized as follows:

Percentage of Total Mutual Fund AUM at November 30

2004

2003

Domestic equity funds
U.S. and international equity funds
Domestic balanced funds
U.S. and international balanced funds
Domestic fixed income funds
International fixed income funds

30.1%
44.6%
11.3%
2.5%
9.5%
2.0%
100.0%

26.4%
47.3%
11.4%
3.0%
9.8%
2.1%
100.0%

The change in the composition of mutual fund AUM in 2004 was due to the appreciation of the Canadian dollar
relative to the U.S. dollar and the higher level of net redemptions of U.S. and international equity funds relative to other
types of funds.
The composition of AUM has direct influence on our revenues. Generally, equity funds have higher management fees
than fixed income funds and international funds have higher management fees than domestic funds.
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Segment Results and KPIs
The table below highlights the Investment Management Operations segment results for the years ended November 30, 2004
and 2003.
($ millions)

Years ended November 30
Revenue
Net management and advisory fees
Administration fees and other revenue
Deferred sales charges
Investment income

2004

$

Expenses
Selling, general and administrative
Trailing commissions
Investment advisory fees
Writedown of short-term investments

EBITDA1
Amortization
Income before taxes and non-segmented items

1

$

433.7
45.9
39.1
1.6
520.3

2003

$

% change

405.7
34.3
40.5
1.1
481.6

6.9%
33.9%
(3.6%)
54.2%
8.0%

151.9
112.5
30.4
0.6
295.4

89.1
102.8
30.6
0.6
223.1

70.4%
9.4%
(0.6%)
(4.7%)
32.4%

224.9
144.7
80.2

258.5
140.0
118.5

(13.0%)
3.3%
(32.4%)

$

As previously defined, see the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures - EBITDA” section.

Revenue
Revenue for the Investment Management Operations segment increased 8.0% over the previous year, with changes in the
categories being:
Net Management and Advisory Fees
The rise in average daily mutual fund AUM in fiscal 2004 of 7.0% directly contributed to a 6.9% increase in net management and advisory fee revenue from the same period a year ago.
Management and advisory fee revenue in fiscal 2004 is reported net of distribution fees paid to limited partnerships
and other third-party financing entities of $16.3 million ($18.2 million in 2003).
Administration Fees and Other Revenue
Administration fees and other revenue, which includes fees earned on Harmony, institutional and private wealth management
AUM, increased by 33.9% in the year ended November 30, 2004, as compared with the same period in the prior year. There
was strong growth in Harmony revenues, which was augmented by the acquisitions of P.J. Doherty and Cypress in the year.
Deferred Sales Charges
We receive Deferred Sales Charges upon redemption of securities sold on the contingent DSC or “back-end” commission
basis for which we financed the selling commissions paid to the dealer. The DSC is generally 5.5% of the original subscription
price of the funds purchased if the funds are redeemed within the first two years and declines to zero after seven years.
DSC revenue fluctuates based on the level of redemptions, the age of the assets being redeemed and the proportion of
redemptions composed of “back-end” assets.
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Expenses
Expenses for the Investment Management Operations segment increased 32.4% over the previous year. Changes in specific
categories are described in the discussion that follows.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
SG&A includes $31.0 million of expense related to the agreement with the OSC. Excluding this amount, SG&A for 2004
was $120.9 million, representing a $31.8 million increase in SG&A expenses in 2004 as compared with 2003. This increase
is due to costs associated with the continued building of AGF’s investment management and sales teams, non-recurring
compensation expenses related to the reorganization of the sales and marketing functions and the inclusion of operating
expenses related to the newly acquired P.J. Doherty and Cypress.
Trailing Commissions
Trailing commissions paid to investment dealers are dependent on total AUM, the proportion of mutual fund AUM sold on a
front-end versus back-end commission basis, and the proportion of equity fund AUM versus fixed income fund AUM. Trailing
commissions as a percentage of average daily mutual fund AUM increased to 0.473% for the 12 months ended November 30,
2004 from 0.463% in the comparable 2003 period, due to an increased proportion of mutual fund AUM sold on a front-end basis.
Investment Advisory Fees
External investment advisory fees remained relatively constant on a year-over-year basis as the average AUM managed
by sub-advisors remained constant on a year-over-year basis.

EBITDA
EBITDA for the Investment Management Operations segment were $224.9 million for the year ended November 30, 2004, a
decrease of 13.0% from $258.5 million for the same period of fiscal 2003. Excluding the impact of the agreement with the
OSC, EBITDA for the year ended November 30, 2004 was $255.9 million, declining by 1.0% over 2003.

Amortization
The largest item in this category is amortization of deferred selling commissions. Amortization also includes amortization of
property, equipment and other intangible assets, customer contracts, relationships and investment advisory contracts.
We internally finance all selling commissions paid. These selling commissions are capitalized and are amortized on a
straight-line basis over a period that corresponds with their applicable DSC schedule.
Amortization expense related to deferred selling commissions was $121.7 million in 2004 as compared with $117.0 million
in 2003. The year-over-year increase is reflective of the prior year’s mix in sales on a DSC basis as compared to sales on a
front-end basis. Front-end load sales result in us paying no upfront commission to the advisor.
During fiscal 2004, we paid $54.5 million in selling commissions, compared with $45.8 million in 2003. As at November 30,
2004, the unamortized balance of deferred selling commissions financed stood at $327.6 million, a decrease of $67.2 million
from the prior-year balance of $394.8 million. The contingent deferred sales charges that would be received if all of the DSC
securities were redeemed at November 30, 2004 were estimated to be approximately $442.7 million (2003 - $525.3 million).
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Segment Outlook
Net management and advisory fees are directly impacted by market appreciation or depreciation of fund portfolios and net
fund sales or redemptions. Our current expectation is that these factors will combine to keep AUM relatively flat on a yearover-year basis.
We expect 2005 SG&A to be consistent with the amounts incurred in fiscal 2004, excluding the expense related to the
agreement with the OSC, as we commit the required resources to execute our stated strategy. We believe that it is prudent
to incur these added selling and marketing costs to take advantage of compelling opportunities in the marketplace.
Although we experienced a high level of net mutual fund redemptions during fiscal 2004, management believes that the
following factors position us for future asset growth and financial success:
• Financial strength with strong cash flows that will allow us to return value to shareholders and pursue strategic acquisitions.
• A revitalized sales and marketing function. The centralization of all aspects of sales and marketing will allow a more
strategic and client-centric approach to strengthening advisor relationships.
• The inclusion of two strategic acquisitions. We acquired 100% of P.J. Doherty in January 2004 and 100% of Cypress
in June 2004. These acquisitions complete a national network of private investment management firms and create a
strong platform for organic growth. The acquisition of Cypress also creates operational synergies, such as the ability
to offer new income-oriented products.
• Continued strong investment performance of the AGF fund portfolios. Over a 10-year period, 75% of ranked mutual
fund AUM have performed above median.
• Well-positioned products. The Harmony Pools, AGF’s highly successful wrap product, continues to generate strong
asset inflows and management believes it will continue to be a leading product in this market segment.
• Our new income product offerings address current investor preference for yield.

Fund Administration Operations
This segment operates in Canada as Unisen Inc. (“Unisen”) and in the United Kingdom as Investmaster Group Limited
(“Investmaster”). Unisen composes the majority of the segment’s results.

Business and Industry Profile
We offer technology solutions and business process services to investment firms and institutional clients, including the AGF
group of mutual funds. Unisen was formed in 2002 by the combination of AdminSource Inc., The Toronto-Dominion Bank
third-party administration business (“TD Administration”), Jewelstone Systems Inc. (“Jewelstone”) and the fund administration
operations of AGF.
Unisen holds a strong position in the outsourcing market and serves directly or through other third-party administrators,
approximately 170 investment companies and financial institutions. There has been a trend toward outsourcing investment
fund back office processing in the United States and Europe. In the Canadian marketplace, although investment funds have
been slower to embrace outsourcing, increased acceptance may provide opportunities for the market to grow.
Investmaster provides IT solutions to the United Kingdom’s wealth management and institutional brokering sectors and
its technology now handles 25% of the London Stock Exchange’s private client volumes.
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Fund Administration Operations Segment Strategy
Unisen’s strategic priority is to be the provider of choice for administration services and technology to the investment services
industry in Canada and other selected markets. Primary strategic initiatives include:
• Enhancing client experience through service quality and innovative products.
• Investing in the Unitrax IT platform to build upon its market leadership.
• Expanding the scope of services beyond traditional fund structures.
• Creating an organizational culture that emphasizes personal accountability, commitment to service excellence and
cost containment.
Unisen operates independently from the AGF Group and is guided by its own management team. Over the past two years,
Unisen has achieved a number of significant accomplishments that have contributed to the scalable and efficient platform that
exists today. The number of transfer agency IT systems has been reduced from four to two. Six operating locations were combined
into one corporate headquarters in Mississauga, Ontario. In conjunction with our organizational restructuring, significant focus has
been placed on business processes that have resulted in improved controls, operational efficiencies and, more importantly, reduced
costs of servicing related and third-party clients. Unisen is well-positioned to meet its strategic priorities in the years to come.
Investmaster’s business strategy is to continue to provide a high level of service and support to existing customer relationships
and build on this reputation to expand market share.

Segment Results and KPIs
The table below highlights the Fund Administration Operations segment results for the years ended November 30, 2004
and 2003.
($ millions)

Years ended November 30
Interest, administration fees and other revenue
Selling, general and administrative expenses
EBITDA1
Amortization
Loss before income taxes and
non-segmented items
1

2004
$

129.1
114.9

2003
$

14.2
15.5
$

(1.3)

$

128.5
121.7

% change
0.5%
(5.6%)

6.8
14.5

109.0%
7.1%

(7.7)

83.1%

As previously defined, see the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures – EBITDA” section.

Revenue
Revenue for the Fund Administration Operations segment increased 0.5% from $128.5 million in fiscal 2003 to $129.1 million
in 2004. The increases are primarily attributable to the acquisition of Consort Information Systems Limited (“CISL”) completed
in April 2003, which resulted in an expanded customer base for Investmaster offset by slightly lower year-over-year revenues
at Unisen.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
The decrease in SG&A was due to cost savings at Unisen of over $9.0 million resulting from the integration of our third-party
fund administration operations onto one IT platform offset in part by an increase in Investmaster’s SG&A as a result of the
acquisition of CISL. In addition, Unisen recorded a $3.0 million charge related to facilities that they vacated during the year.
The charge represents our estimate of the difference between the aggregate future lease obligations and the recovery
from subleasing.

EBITDA
EBITDA for the Fund Administration Operations segment more than doubled to $14.2 million in fiscal 2004 on the strength of
Unisen’s results, compared with $6.8 million in 2003.

Amortization of Customer Contracts and Relationships
Amortization of customer contracts and relationships amounted to $6.0 million for the year ended November 30, 2004, a
decrease of $0.2 million or 3.2% from the corresponding period in 2003.

Amortization of Property, Equipment and Other Intangible Assets
Amortization of property, equipment and other intangible assets includes the amortization over a period of five years of
software acquired as part of the Jewelstone and CISL acquisitions. These acquisitions resulted in the addition of software
amounting to $9.3 million and $9.5 million, respectively. The increase in amortization of property and equipment in fiscal
2004 was also attributable to higher capital spending incurred in 2003 on leasehold improvements and IT infrastructure in
respect of Unisen’s head office in Mississauga, Ontario.

Segment Outlook
Industry trends such as consolidation of fund companies, preference towards “in sourcing” by larger investment fund firms
and the popularity of non-fund products pose near-term challenges to business growth. As a result, we anticipate Unisen’s
revenue for the coming year will be lower than 2004. Notwithstanding these factors, with its strong operational foundation
and a significant market position in Canada, we believe Unisen is well-positioned for long-term growth and as a result of
operational efficiencies and restructuring activities, we should be able to maintain margins in this segment of the business.

Trust Company Operations
Business and Industry Profile
Through AGF Trust we offer financial solutions including mortgages, investment loans, RSP loans, and both non-registered
and registered term deposits. Our products are distributed through independent financial advisors as well as mortgage brokers. The mortgage broker channel has experienced strong growth. Borrowers have chosen to deal with mortgage brokers to
take advantage of independent advice and competitive rates, while lenders have provided mortgages in this channel to reduce
distribution costs. Advisors continue to broaden their suite of products as they compete for relationships with banks.

40

AGF Management Limited / Annual Report 2004

Trust Company Operations Segment Strategy
We strive to earn a strong financial return as well as maximize synergies with the Investment Management Operations segment.
Specific strategies include:
• Aggressive product marketing.
• Providing tailored products that directly serve advisor needs.
• Disciplined loan-underwriting standards to minimize credit losses.
• Expense management initiatives to keep cost stable while assets grow.
In fiscal 2004, we created a dedicated sales staff to promote investment lending and mortgage products, and as a result
the loan portfolio increased significantly in 2004. Resources were also dedicated to better support AGF investment management
wholesalers with the aim to make it easier for AGF wholesalers to serve their clients and promote trust products to advisors.
AGF Trust will continue to maximize operational synergies with our investment management business through trust
products that assist financial advisors in broadening and deepening their relationship with their clients. In addition, we
will focus on expanding returns by increasing our consumer and mortgage loan portfolios.

Segment Results and KPIs
The table below highlights our operating segment results for the years ended November 30, 2004 and 2003.
($ millions)

Years ended November 30
Interest, administration fees and other revenue

2004
$

Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Interest on deposits
Provision for loan losses

EBITDA1
Amortization
Income before taxes and non-segmented items

1

$

42.6

$

% change

35.9

18.7%

10.8
18.1
2.6
31.5

8.9
18.6
2.0
29.5

20.6%
(2.4%)
29.8%
6.7%

11.1
1.2
9.9

6.4
0.9
5.5

74.1%
31.9%
81.1%

As previously defined, see the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures – EBITDA” section.
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Revenue
Revenue increased by 18.7% in fiscal 2004 as compared with 2003, with the increase being attributable to a 32.7% year-overyear increase in the mortgage loan portfolio and a 51.1% year-over-year increase in the consumer loan portfolio.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
SG&A increased by 20.6% in fiscal 2004 as compared with 2003, as a result of increased compensation expense directly
related to the increases in the loan portfolios. Much of the compensation of our staff is variable and related to increases
in the loan portfolios.
Provision for Loan Losses
The provision for loan losses increased by 29.8% in the year as compared with 2003, with the increase attributable to the
increase in our loan portfolio.

EBITDA
The strong revenue growth, coupled with the fact we were able to increase margins on our loan portfolios, served to increase
EBITDA by 74.1% in 2004, as compared with 2003.

Operational Results
The table below highlights our key operational measures for the segment for the years ended November 30, 2004 and 2003.
($ millions)

Years ended November 30
Mortgage loan assets
Consumer loan assets
Other assets
Total assets
Net interest income1
Other income
Non-interest expenses
Provision for loan losses
Income before taxes and non-segmented items
Efficiency ratio2
Assets-to-capital multiple

2004
$

$
$

$

284.6
422.7
121.7
829.0
19.6
3.4
10.5
2.6
9.9
45.7%
15.3

2003
$

$
$

$

% change

214.5
279.8
96.1
590.4

32.7%
51.1%
26.6%
40.4%

13.4
2.6
8.5
2.0
5.5

46.3%
30.8%
23.5%
30.0%
81.1%

53.1%
14.3

1

Net interest income above is reported net of agent commissions.

2

The efficiency ratio is calculated by dividing non-interest expenses by the total of net interest income and fee income.
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Loan Asset Growth
Loan assets experienced substantial growth during fiscal 2004. RSP loan advances were strong as financial advisors
continued to make use of AGF Trust’s internet-based loan application system. New investment loan products contributed to
overall growth in loan advances. Net conventional non-accrual loans were $0.7 million, or 0.3% of the mortgage portfolio.

Efficiency Ratio
The efficiency ratio (non-interest expenses divided by the total of net interest income and fee income) is a key performance
indicator utilized to ensure expenses are contained as the Trust business grows. The efficiency ratio improved to 45.7% in
fiscal 2004 from 53.1% during fiscal 2003, meeting our goal of having a ratio below 50%. The improvement in the efficiency
ratio resulted from strong cost discipline and increased volumes. AGF Trust’s administrative infrastructure has proven
capable of supporting larger scale.

Balance Sheet
Our balance sheet has grown significantly during the past year, with our financial position remaining solid. Total assets
increased 40.4% to $829.0 million at November 30, 2004 from the prior year-end. Our assets-to-capital multiple stood at
15.3 times, up from 14.3 times at November 30, 2003, but well below our authorized multiple of 17.5 times. Our risk-based
capital ratio was 10.2% at November 30, 2004. We issued $5.0 million in subordinated debt during the year, in order to support
increased asset levels. Liquid assets were high, with $107.4 million in cash and short-term investments at November 30, 2004,
ensuring that we can easily meet the higher loan volume funding requirements during the 2005 RSP season.

Loan Portfolio Credit
The general allowance for mortgage loan losses was increased during the year to $1.0 million from $0.8 million. The general
allowance for consumer loan losses was increased to $2.6 million from $1.9 million a year ago.
Approximately two-thirds of mortgage loan assets are insured. We have strong security for non-RSP investment loans
and loan losses during the history of the program have been minimal.

Segment Outlook
Volume growth during 2005 should allow us to meet our growth targets. The 2005 RSP season has started strongly for the
Trust Company, with lending volumes above last year’s pace.
The Trust Company’s presence in the mortgage broker space has been enhanced through targeted marketing campaigns
and the hiring of business development managers specifically for the mortgage broker channel.
A sustained period of positive mutual fund returns, and a low interest rate environment, should be supportive of investment
lending products.
Management believes the company is on track to solidify its position as a trusted alternative to traditional banks for the
lending products that it distributes.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash flow generated from operating activities (before net change in non-cash balances related to operations) was $207.8 million
for the year ended November 30, 2004, compared with $208.5 million in the prior year.
Our free cash flow (defined as cash flow from operations less selling commissions paid) was $153.3 million for the
year ended November 30, 2004, compared with $162.8 million in the prior year. In fiscal 2004, we paid $54.5 million in selling
commissions, which were deferred for accounting purposes, compared with $45.8 million in 2003. Our free cash flow was
used primarily to fund the following:
($ millions)

Years ended November 30
Decrease in long-term debt
Payment of dividends
Purchase of property, equipment and other intangible assets
Repurchase of AGF Class B non-voting shares for cancellation
Acquisitions

2004
$

$

54.2
37.5
11.4
37.4
20.0
160.5

2003
$

$

114.0
27.2
14.5
8.6
4.0
168.3

Our strong free cash flow during fiscal 2004 permitted a substantial reduction of long-term debt by $54.2 million. As a
result, the long-term debt-to-equity ratio decreased significantly from 0.13:1 as at November 30, 2003 to 0.08:1 as at
November 30, 2004.
During fiscal 2004, we used $37.4 million of free cash flow to repurchase 2,099,800 AGF Class B non-voting shares at an
average price of $17.83 per share.
Consolidated cash and cash equivalents amounted to $118.8 million as at November 30, 2004, up from $88.9 million a
year ago. Most of the increase is due to an increase in cash in the Trust Company Operations segment.
We have a 10-year prime rate-based revolving term loan facility to a maximum of $150.0 million, of which $106.7 million
was available to be drawn as of November 30, 2004. This facility will be available to meet future operational and investment
needs. We anticipate that cash flow from operations, together with the available loan facility, will be sufficient in the foreseeable
future to implement our business plan, finance selling commissions, satisfy regulatory requirements, service debt repayment
obligations, meet capital spending needs and pay quarterly dividends.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
Selling commissions paid on certain sales of mutual fund securities of the AGF funds made on the DSC basis (“DSC securities”)
were up until 1997 financed by limited partnerships held by third-party investors as described in Note 10 of our consolidated
financial statements. Up to November 30, 2004, such limited partnerships have financed selling commissions of approximately
$440 million in respect of such DSC securities. We are obligated to pay the relevant limited partnership an annual fee based
on the net asset value of DSC securities. The limited partnerships also receive any deferred sales charges resulting from the
redemption of such securities. These obligations continue as long as such DSC securities remain outstanding except for certain
of the limited partnerships, in which case the obligation terminates at various dates from December 31, 2006 to December 31,
2020. For certain limited partnerships the obligation is secured by our mutual fund management contracts to the extent of the
particular obligation.
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We are responsible for the management and administration of the limited partnerships. These services are provided in the
normal course of operations and are recorded at the amount of consideration agreed to by the parties. The amount of fees
received in 2004 was $830,000 (2003 - $943,000). As at November 30, 2004, the net asset value of DSC securities financed by
the limited partnerships was $2.2 billion (2003 - $2.7 billion).

Contractual Obligations
The table below is a summary of our contractual obligations at November 30, 2004. See also Notes 7 & 21 of the consolidated
financial statements.

2006–
2007

($ millions)

Total
Long-term debt
Capital lease obligations
Operating leases
Purchase obligations
Total contractual obligations

$

$

112.0
2.3
58.4
55.3
228.0

2005
$

$

43.7
0.8
6.9
6.7
58.1

$

$

11.3
1.5
13.1
11.7
37.6

2008–
2009
$

$

16.2
–
8.6
7.7
32.5

Thereafter
$

$

40.8
–
29.8
29.2
99.8

In addition to the contractual obligations detailed above, the following obligations exist that vary depending upon business
volume and other factors:
• The AGF Trust Company is required to pay depositors amounts representing principal and interest on funds on deposit.
• A portion of our selling commissions paid on a DSC basis have been financed by limited partnerships held by thirdparty investors. As at November 30, 2004, the net asset value of DSC securities financed by the limited partnerships
was $2.2 billion and the amount paid to these partnerships in 2004 was $16.3 million.
• We pay trailing commissions to investment advisors based on AUM of their respective clients. This obligation varies based
on sales and redemptions, and in 2004 we paid $112.5 million in trailing commissions.

Intercompany and Related Party Transactions
The Company has entered into a number of cost sharing and services agreements with its subsidiaries in the areas of transaction processing, mutual fund administration, information technology services, and premises. These transactions are eliminated
on consolidation.
The Company has entered into certain transactions with entities, the partners or senior officers, some of which are directors
of the Company. During 2004, total amounts paid by the Company to these related parties in aggregate was $0.1 million
(2003 - $0.1 million).
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Dividends
The holders of the AGF Class B non-voting shares are entitled to receive cash dividends. Dividends are paid in equal amounts
per share on all the AGF Class B non-voting shares and all the AGF Class A voting common shares at the time outstanding,
without preference or priority of one share over another. No dividends may be declared in the event that there is a default of
a condition of our loan facility or where such payment of dividends would create a default.
Our Board of Directors may determine that the Class B shareholders shall have the right to elect to receive part or all of
such dividend in the form of a stock dividend. In determining whether a dividend in AGF Class B non-voting shares is substantially equal to a cash dividend, the Board of Directors may make a determination based on the weighted average price at
which the AGF Class B non-voting shares traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange during the 10 trading days immediately
preceding the record date applicable to such dividend.
The following table sets forth dividends paid by AGF on the AGF Class B non-voting shares and the AGF Class A voting
common shares for the periods indicated:

Years ended November 30
Per share
1

2004
$

0.41

2003
$

0.30

2002
$

0.26

20001

2001
$

0.22

$

0.18

Restated to reflect the two-for-one share subdivision of the AGF Class B non-voting shares and AGF Class A voting common shares on August 29, 2000.

We review our dividend distribution policy on a quarterly basis, taking into consideration our financial position, profitability,
cash flow and other factors considered relevant by our Board of Directors.

Outstanding Share Data
Set out below is our outstanding share data as at November 30, 2004. For additional detail, see Note 12 and 13 to the
2004 Consolidated Financial Statements.

Common Shares
AGF Class A voting common shares
AGF Class B non-voting shares
Stock Options
Outstanding options
Exercisable options

57,600
90,739,463

3,566,604
1,610,949

Government Regulations
Government Regulations – Investment Management Operations
AGFFI is subject to regulation by the Ontario Securities Commission (“OSC”) and other provincial securities regulatory authorities.
AGFFI is currently required to be registered as an investment counsel and portfolio manager in order to conduct its business.
We also maintain registration as a mutual fund dealer in certain provinces where it is required. We are also registered as a
Commodity Trading Manager. AGF PIM is registered as an investment counsel and portfolio manager. Application must be
made annually to renew these registrations. The Securities Act (Ontario) and certain other provincial securities legislation
prescribes educational and proficiency standards for individuals engaged in making investment decisions and trading in
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mutual fund securities, capital requirements to protect against insolvency, the filing of financial statements and reports and
the maintenance of contingency funds administered by specified trust companies. Additionally, AGF Securities (Canada)
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of AGF, is registered as a securities dealer with the Investment Dealers Association,
which is a self-regulatory organization. AGF Securities Inc., also a wholly owned subsidiary of AGF, is registered with the
Securities and Exchange Commission in the United States.
In its capacity as investment counsel and portfolio manager, AGFFI is subject to conflict of interest regulations made
pursuant to the Securities Act (Ontario) and certain other provincial securities legislation. Among other things, these regulations impose limitations on the ability of AGFFI to advise or make recommendations with respect to its own securities or
securities of a related or connected issuer. AGFFI is also subject to certain restrictions that are imposed by applicable provincial
securities legislation on advertising and sales incentives.
Each of the Funds must file each year an annual information form and simplified prospectus in every province and territory of Canada and obtain a receipt for the same from provincial securities regulatory authorities in order that the securities
of the Fund may be sold in each province and territory. AGF Canadian Growth Equity Fund Limited must file an offering document annually in Japan in order to qualify its shares for sale in that country. The Goldrings Group of Funds (off-shore mutual
funds domiciled in Ireland) must file its offering documents annually in Ireland as well as in Japan in order to qualify for distribution in Japan. Each Fund in the AGF Group of Funds, as well as AGFFI as manager, is liable for any misrepresentation in
the offering documents of the Funds, and similarly, AGF International Advisors Company Limited is responsible for the
Goldrings Group of Funds.
Pursuant to securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada, none of the Funds can make portfolio investments
in the substantial securityholders of such Funds, in AGF or in corporations in which the Funds’ directors or officers or their
substantial securityholders have a significant interest.
More recently, a number of regulatory initiatives have been introduced, most notably a new proposal on fund governance
and the OSC’s introduction of the Fair Dealing Model. As well, we are participating in a number of industry- and OSC-initiated
group consultations. Both of these initiatives are significant proposals and we are considering them carefully.

Government Regulations – Trust Operations
Our Trust Company operations are incorporated federally and are governed by the Trust and Loan Companies Act (Canada)
(the “Act”) and by applicable provincial legislation where it carries on business. This legislation specifies the powers of a trust
company and imposes investment restrictions. Most significantly, the statutes provide for annual and other reports to be filed
on the financial condition of the trust company; periodic examinations of the company’s affairs; restrictions on transactions
with related parties; corporate governance provisions; and minimum capital adequacy standards based on the total assets and
risk-weighted assets of the trust company. The assets-to-capital multiple at November 30, 2004 was 15.3 times and the riskbased capital ratio was 10.2%. AGF Trust is supervised by the federal Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions.
AGF Trust is a member of the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation (“CDIC”), which provides a statutory scheme for the
insurance of certain qualifying deposits made and payable in Canada in Canadian currency. CDIC has also established by-laws,
which, among other requirements, require AGF Trust to operate under certain standards of sound business and financial practices.

Future Accounting and Reporting Changes
The following is a summary of accounting and reporting changes the Company expects to adopt in future periods. See Note 2 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements for details of future accounting and reporting changes.

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
The Canadian Accounting Standards Board issued a revised guideline on the consolidation of variable interest entities, which will
impact us in the first quarter of fiscal 2005. We are currently reviewing Limited Partnership Financings as described in the “Off
Balance Sheet Arrangements” section to determine if any of these relationships would require consolidation. Consolidation of
these entities would not have a significant impact on net income.
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Financial Instruments, Hedges and Comprehensive Income
The CICA has issued two proposed accounting standards: Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement and Hedges, and
one new accounting standard – Comprehensive Income. These standards are substantially harmonized with U.S. GAAP and are
effective for us beginning with the first quarter of fiscal 2007. The principal impact of the standards are detailed below.
Comprehensive income will be a new component of shareholders’ equity and a new statement entitled Statement of
Comprehensive Income will be added to our primary Consolidated Financial Statements.
Financial assets will be required to be classified as available for sale, held to maturity, or trading.
For fair value hedges, where we are hedging changes in the fair value of assets, liabilities or firm commitments, the change in
the value of derivatives and hedged items will be recorded through income. For cash flow hedges where we are hedging the variability
in cash flows related to variable rate assets, liabilities or forecasted transactions, the effective portion of the changes in the fair values
of the derivative instruments will be recorded through comprehensive income until the hedged items are recognized in income.

Fourth Quarter Analysis
Summary of Consolidated Operating Results
The table below highlights our results for the three months ended November 30, 2004 and 2003:
($ millions, except per share amounts)

Three months ended November 30
Revenue
Expenses
EBITDA1
Amortization
Interest expense
Income taxes
Loss
Cash flow from operations2
Per share amounts - diluted
Cash flow from operations
Earnings
Return on equity

2004
$

156.6
134.8

2003
$

153.9
90.5

1.7%
49.1%
(65.6%)
(3.2%)
(47.6%)
(122.8%)
(68.6%)
(69.3%)

(68.5%)
(66.7%)

$
$

21.8
39.4
1.1
(10.6)
(8.1)
15.4

$
$

63.4
40.7
2.2
46.4
(25.9)
50.0

$
$

0.17
(0.09)

$
$

0.54
(0.27)

(3.5%)

% change

(11.2%)

1

As previously defined, see the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures - EBITDA” section. The items required to reconcile EBITDA to net income,
a defined term under Canadian GAAP, are detailed above.

2

Cash flow from operations before net change in non-cash balances related to operations.

Revenue for the fourth quarter ended November 30, 2004 was up 1.7% from the same period in 2003, with the Investment
Management Operations segment contributing an increase of $4.2 million and the Trust Company Operations segment contributing an increase of $2.5 million. These increases were offset by a reduction in revenues in the Fund Administration
Operations segment of $5.4 million.
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Expenses in the fourth quarter ended November 30, 2004 increased by $44.4 million over the same period a year ago, with
the change attributable to the $31.0 million expense related to the OSC agreement and higher SG&A associated with the acquisition of P.J. Doherty and Cypress, as well as non-recurring compensation expenses related to the reorganization of the sales
and marketing functions and a $3.0 million provision recorded in the Fund Administration Operations segment related to vacated
premises.
Cash flow from operations and EBITDA were lower for the quarter ended November 30, 2004, compared with the respective
quarter in 2003, predominantly due to higher expenses as noted above.
Our income tax benefit for the three months ended November 30, 2004 was $10.6 million, as compared to our income tax
expense of $46.4 million in the three months ended November 30, 2003. In April 2004, we acquired net tax-related benefits of
$15.7 million, of which $5.0 million were recognized in the three months ended November 30, 2004. The tax expense recorded in
the fourth quarter of 2003 included a $40.2 million charge related to the change in future Ontario provincial income tax rates.
The net effect of these items resulted in a reduced loss in the fourth quarter of 2004 as compared with the corresponding
quarter in 2003. The details of the 2004 fourth quarter results for each business segment follow.

Investment Management Operations
Assets Under Management
The following table illustrates the composition of the changes in mutual fund AUM during the three months ended
November 30, 2004 and 2003:
($ millions)

Three months ended November 30
Mutual fund AUM, beginning of period

2004
$

Gross sales of mutual funds
Redemption of mutual funds
Net mutual fund redemptions

$

534
(1,374)
840

Market appreciation of fund portfolios
Mutual fund AUM, end of period

22,989

2003

598
$

Institutional and PIM AUM

22,747

22,987

0.0%

596
(1,010)
414

(10.4%)
36.0%
25.6%

595
$

8,621

% change

0.5%

23,168

(1.8%)

5,049

70.7%

Total AUM

$

31,368

$

28,217

11.2%

Average daily mutual fund AUM for the period

$

22,753

$

23,018

(1.2%)
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Portfolio rebalancing by an institutional client contributed $150 million to net redemptions in the fourth quarter of 2004.
During the three months ended November 30, 2004, the Canadian-dollar-adjusted S&P 500 Index fell 3.9%, the Canadiandollar-adjusted NASDAQ Index rose 3.1% and the S&P/TSX Composite Index rose 7.4%.
The impact of the U.S. dollar decline relative to the Canadian dollar on the market value of AGF mutual funds since
August 31, 2004 has been a reduction in AUM of approximately $0.6 billion.
Net redemptions, partially offset by a $598 million increase in AUM resulting from portfolio returns, contributed to a
decline of mutual fund AUM from $23.0 billion at August 31, 2004 to $22.7 billion at November 30, 2004.

Financial and Operational Results
The table below highlights the Investment Management Operations segment results for the three months ended
November 30, 2004 and 2003.
($ millions)

Three months ended November 30
Revenue
Net management and advisory fees
Administration fees and other revenue
Deferred sales charges
Investment income

2004

$

$
Expenses
Selling, general and administrative
Trailing commissions
Investment advisory fees
Writedown of short-term investments

$

1

$

$

% change

103.6
9.6
9.2
0.0
122.4

(1.1%)
37.7%
14.9%
n/m
3.5%

26.7
26.7
7.5
–
60.9

179.6%
2.7%
(9.3%)
n/m
79.5%

74.6
27.4
6.8
0.6
109.4

$

$

17.2
35.2

$

61.5
35.8

(72.1%)
(1.6%)

$

(18.0)

$

25.7

(170.2%)

$
EBITDA1
Amortization
Income (loss) before taxes and
non-segmented items

102.4
13.2
10.5
0.5
126.6

2003

$

As previously defined, see the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures - EBITDA” section.
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Fund Administration Operations
Financial and Operational Results
The table below highlights the Fund Administration Operations segment results for the three months ended November 30, 2004
and 2003.
($ millions)

Three months ended November 30
Administration fees and other revenue
Selling, general and administrative expenses
EBITDA1
Amortization
Loss before taxes and non-segmented items
1

2004
$

$

31.6
30.1
1.5
3.9
(2.4)

2003
$

$

% change

37.0
37.6

(14.7%)
(19.8%)

(0.6)
4.3
(4.9)

345.1%
(10.1%)
(51.9%)

As previously defined, see the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures - EBITDA” section.

Trust Company Operations
Financial and Operational Results
The table below highlights the Trust Company Operations segment results for the three months ended November 30, 2004
and 2003.
($ millions)

Three months ended November 30
Interest, administration fees and other revenue

2004
$

Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Interest on deposits
Provision for loan losses

EBITDA1
Amortization
Income before taxes and non-segmented items
1

$

11.7

$

% change

9.2

27.5%

2.9
5.3
0.5
8.7

2.0
4.5
0.3
6.8

43.3%
17.4%
64.5%
27.7%

3.0
0.3
2.7

2.4
0.2
2.2

26.8%
75.5%
22.5%

As previously defined, see the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures - EBITDA” section.
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Selected Quarterly Information
Nov. 30,
2004

($ millions, except per share amounts)

For the three month period ended
Revenue
Cash flow from operations1
EBITDA2
Pretax income
Net income (loss)

Aug. 31,
2004

May 31,
2004

Feb. 29,
2004

$

156.6
15.4
21.8
(18.7)
(8.1)

$

158.2
62.4
76.2
33.2
27.6

$

166.0
68.4
79.0
36.9
34.0

$

159.1
61.6
75.5
33.5
23.8

Net income (loss) per share
Basic
Diluted

$
$

(0.08)
(0.09)

$
$

0.30
0.30

$
$

0.37
0.37

$
$

0.26
0.26

Cash flow from operations per share1
Basic
Diluted

$
$

0.17
0.17

$
$

0.69
0.68

$
$

0.75
0.74

$
$

0.67
0.67

Weighted average fully diluted shares

91,798,233

91,941,879

92,117,368

92,230,930

Nov. 30,
2003

Aug. 31,
2003

May 31,
2003

Feb. 28,
2003

($ millions, except per share amounts)

For the three month period ended
Revenue
Cash flow from operations1
EBITDA2
Pretax income
Net income (loss)

$

153.9
50.0
63.4
20.6
(25.8)

$

147.4
55.8
72.4
30.4
21.8

$

140.8
50.8
66.7
25.9
19.6

$

158.7
51.9
81.8
40.3
28.4

Net income (loss) per share
Basic
Diluted

$
$

(0.28)
(0.27)

$
$

0.24
0.23

$
$

0.21
0.21

$
$

0.31
0.30

Cash flow from operations per share1
Basic
Diluted

$
$

0.55
0.54

$
$

0.61
0.60

$
$

0.55
0.55

$
$

0.57
0.56

Weighted average fully diluted shares

92,846,779

92,762,982

1

Cash flow from operations before net change in non-cash balances related to operations.

2

As previously defined, see the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures - EBITDA” section.

92,282,350

93,221,674
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Selected Annual Information
($ millions, except per share amounts)

For the years ended November 30
Revenue
Cash flow from operations1
EBITDA2
Pretax income
Net income

2004

2003

2002

$

639.9
207.8
252.5
84.9
77.3

$

600.8
208.5
284.3
117.2
44.0

$

654.1
267.0
320.4
163.4
119.8

Net income per share
Basic
Diluted

$
$

0.85
0.84

$
$

0.48
0.47

$
$

1.34
1.30

Cash flow from operations per share
Basic
Diluted

$
$

2.28
2.26

$
$

2.27
2.25

$
$

2.97
2.91

Dividends per share

$

0.410

$

0.295

$

0.255

Total corporate assets

$ 2,167.8

$ 1,967.0

$ 1,974.9

Total long-term debt

$

$

$

69.7

1

Cash flow from operations before net change in non-cash balances related to operations.

2

As previously defined, see the “Key Performance Indicators and Non-GAAP Measures - EBITDA” section.

114.1

Additional Information
Additional information relating to the Company can be found in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and
accompanying notes for the year ended November 30, 2004, the Company’s 2004 AIF and other documents filed with
applicable securities regulators in Canada and may be accessed at www.sedar.com.
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225.4

management’s responsibility for financial reporting

Toronto, January 24, 2005

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of AGF Management Ltd. were prepared by management, which is
responsible for the integrity and fairness of the information presented, including the amounts based on estimates and
judgments. These consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Financial information appearing throughout this Annual Report is consistent with these consolidated financial
statements.
In discharging its responsibility for the integrity and fairness of the consolidated financial statements and for the
accounting systems from which they are derived, management maintains internal controls designed to ensure that transactions
are authorized, assets are safeguarded and proper records are maintained. The system of internal controls is supported by a
compliance function, which ensures that the Company and its employees comply with securities legislation and conflict of
interest rules, and by an internal audit staff, which conducts periodic audits of all aspects of the Company’s operations.
The Board of Directors oversees management’s responsibilities for financial reporting through an Audit Committee,
which is composed entirely of outside directors. This Committee reviews the consolidated financial statements of the
Company and recommends them to the Board for approval.
PricewaterhouseCoopers, independent auditors appointed by the shareholders of the Company upon the recommendation
of the Audit Committee, have performed an independent audit of the consolidated financial statements, and their report follows.
The shareholders’ auditors have full and unrestricted access to the Audit Committee to discuss their audit and related findings.

Blake C. Goldring, CFA
President & Chief Executive Officer

Greg Henderson, CA
Senior Vice-President & Chief Financial Officer
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auditors’ report

January 24, 2005

To the Shareholders of AGF Management Limited:
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of AGF Management Limited as at November 30, 2004 and 2003 and the
consolidated statements of income, retained earnings and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended
November 30, 2004. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as at November 30, 2004 and 2003 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in
the two-year period then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants
Toronto, Canada
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(in thousands of dollars)

November 30
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable and other assets

Mortgages and consumer loans (note 3)
Investment in associated company (note 4)
Other investments
Management contracts
Customer contracts, relationships and investment advisory contracts,
net of accumulated amortization of $55,602 (2003 - $37,051)
Deferred selling commissions, net of accumulated amortization
of $735,093 (2003 - $613,370)
Property, equipment and other intangible assets,
net of accumulated amortization (note 6)
Goodwill (notes 4 and 5)
Other assets

2004

$

118,805
20,110
63,099
202,014

2003

$

88,905
19,065
63,051
171,021

707,306
108,802
7,532
473,670

494,318
108,692
14,604
473,670

123,862

101,918

327,618

394,839

52,356
160,794
3,892
$ 2,167,846

59,769
148,165
–
$ 1,966,996
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AGF Management Limited
consolidated balance sheets

(in thousands of dollars)

November 30
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Long-term debt due within one year (note 7)
Income taxes payable

Deposits (note 3)
Long-term debt (note 7)
Participation units (note 7)
Future income taxes (note 11)
Leasehold inducements
Other liabilities

Shareholders’ Equity
Capital (note 12)
Contributed surplus (note 13)
Retained earnings
Foreign currency translation adjustment

2004

$

102,818
44,553
1,046
148,417

$

60,756
41,371
19,283
121,410

761,232
69,706
6,157
262,383
4,370
1,215
1,253,480

535,200
114,114
6,157
285,262
1,493
–
1,063,636

394,125
1,781
517,681
779
914,366
$ 2,167,846

395,168
50
506,274
1,868
903,360
$ 1,966,996

Commitments (note 21)
Guarantees (note 22)
Contingent liabilities (note 23)
(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements)

Approved by the Board:

C. Warren Goldring

Douglas L. Derry, FCA

Director

Director
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AGF Management Limited
consolidated statements of income

(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

Years ended November 30
Revenue
Net management and advisory fees
Administration fees, interest and other revenue
Deferred sales charges
Gain on sale of investment in associated company (note 4)
Investment income

2004

$

Expenses
Selling, general and administrative (note 15)
Trailing commissions
Investment advisory fees
Amortization of deferred selling commissions
Amortization of customer contracts, relationships and
investment advisory contracts
Amortization of property, equipment and other intangible assets
Interest on Trust Company deposits
Interest expense
Integration costs (note 16)
Provision for Trust Company loan losses
Writedown of short-term investments

Income before income taxes
Income tax expense (reduction) (note 11)
Current
Future

433,693
165,484
39,067
–
1,668
639,912

2003

$

405,740
140,709
40,543
12,758
1,082
600,832

223,299
112,454
30,413
121,723

156,560
102,758
30,591
116,993

19,554
20,189
18,118
6,114
–
2,554
612
555,030

18,138
22,326
18,570
9,663
5,400
1,967
643
483,609

84,882

117,223

45,486
(37,891)
7,595

62,052
11,155
73,207

Net income for the year

$

77,287

$

44,016

Earnings Per Share (note 14)
Basic
Diluted

$
$

0.85
0.84

$
$

0.48
0.47

(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements)
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AGF Management Limited
consolidated statements of retained earnings

(in thousands of dollars)

Years ended November 30
Retained earnings, beginning of year

2004
$

Net income for the year

Deduct:
Dividends on AGF Class A voting common shares and
AGF Class B non-voting shares
(41.0¢ per share; 2003 – 29.5¢ per share)
Excess paid over book value of AGF Class B non-voting shares
purchased for cancellation (note 12)
Retained earnings, end of year

(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements)
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$

506,274

2003
$

495,819

77,287
583,561

44,016
539,835

37,474

27,150

28,406

6,411

517,681

$

506,274

AGF Management Limited
consolidated statements of cash flow

(in thousands of dollars)

Years ended November 30
Operating Activities
Net income for the year
Items not affecting cash Amortization of deferred selling commissions
Amortization of customer contracts, relationships and
investment advisory contracts
Amortization of property, equipment and other intangible assets
Future income taxes
Gain on sale of investment in associated company
Mark-to-market on swap transactions
Other

2004

$

77,287

2003

$

44,016

121,723

116,993

19,554
20,189
(37,891)
–
(197)
7,129
207,794

18,138
22,326
11,155
(12,758)
–
8,674
208,544

30,734
238,528

4,455
212,999

(37,438)
2,789
(37,474)
(46,400)
(7,825)
3,230
226,032
102,914

(8,567)
6,484
(27,150)
(104,900)
(9,092)
160
66,132
(76,933)

(54,504)
–
(3,858)
–
(19,961)
(11,358)
(14,986)
8,667
(215,542)
(311,542)

(45,782)
(604)
6,528
6,555
(10,530)
(14,528)
(938)
819
(113,506)
(171,986)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the year

29,900

(35,920)

Balance of cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

88,905

124,825

Net decrease in non-cash balances related to operations

Financing Activities
Purchase of AGF Class B non-voting shares for cancellation
Issuance of AGF Class B non-voting shares
Dividends
Decrease in bank loan
Net decrease in notes payable
Increase in leasehold inducements
Net increase in Trust Company deposits

Investing Activities
Deferred selling commissions paid
Investment in associated company
Settlement of hedge of investment in associated company
Acquisition of third-party administration business
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Purchase of property, equipment and other intangible assets
Purchase of investments
Sale of investments
Net increase in Trust Company mortgages and consumer loans

Balance of cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

118,805

$

88,905

Represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trust Company cash and cash equivalents

$

11,382
107,423
118,805

$

5,838
83,067
88,905

$

(See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements)

$
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notes to consolidated financial statements
Description of Business
AGF Management Limited (“AGF” or the “Company”) is incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario). AGF is an
integrated, global wealth management corporation whose principal subsidiaries provide mutual fund management, private
investment management for high-net-worth clients, trust products and services (including mortgage and investment lending
and deposit-taking activities), investment advisory services, third-party fund administration services, and investment industry
software development for individual and institutional clients. AGF conducts the management and distribution of mutual funds
in Canada under the brand names AGF and Harmony (collectively, the “AGF Funds”). AGF conducts its third-party fund
administration services and investment industry software development under the names Unisen in Canada and Investmaster
in the U.K. and its trust business under the name of AGF Trust (the “Trust Company”).

Note 1: Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of AGF and its directly and indirectly owned subsidiaries
and partnership as listed below. Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. Investments over
which the company is able to exercise significant influence are accounted for by the equity method. Other long-term investments are recorded at cost and written down when there is evidence that a decline in value that is other than temporary has
occurred. Short-term investments are recorded at cost and written down to market value when market value declines below
recorded cost. Certain comparative amounts in these financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the current
year’s presentation.
The principal entities of AGF are:
AGF Funds Inc.
AGF International Advisors Company Limited
AGF Asset Management Asia Ltd.
AGF Private Investment Management Limited
AGF Trust Company (“Trust Company”)
AGF Securities (Canada) Limited
AGF Securities, Inc.
AGF Limited Partnership 1998
AGF International Company Limited
Consort Information Systems Limited
Cypress Capital Management Ltd.
Investmaster Group Limited
Investmaster Holdings Limited
P.J. Doherty & Associates Co. Ltd.
Unisen Holdings Inc.
Unisen Inc.
20/20 Financial Corporation
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Revenue Recognition
Management and advisory fees are based on the net asset value of funds under management and are recognized on an
accrual basis. These fees are shown net of management fee rebates and distribution fees payable to third-party selling
commission financing entities.
Administration fees and other revenue are recognized on an accrual basis when the services are performed.
Deferred sales charge (“DSC”) revenue is received from investors when mutual fund securities sold on a DSC basis
are redeemed. DSC revenue is recognized on the trade date of redemption of the applicable mutual fund securities.
Interest income on mortgages and consumer loans, dividends and other investment income earned are recognized
on an accrual basis in the period earned.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are composed of cash and temporary investments consisting of highly liquid investments with
short-term maturities.

Income Taxes
The Company follows the liability method in accounting for income taxes, whereby future income tax assets and liabilities
reflect the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Future income tax assets and liabilities are measured based on the enacted or substantively
enacted tax rates that are expected to be in effect when the future income tax assets or liabilities are expected to be
realized or settled.

Foreign Currency Translation
Foreign currency denominated items are translated in Canadian dollars as follows:
Financial statements of integrated foreign subsidiaries are translated using the temporal method. Under this
method, monetary assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the balance
sheet date. Non-monetary assets are translated at historical exchange rates. Revenue and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates for the period, except for amortization, which is translated on the same basis as the related
asset. Translation gains and losses are included in net income.
Financial statements of self-sustaining operations are translated using the current rate method. Under this method,
assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses are translated
at average exchange rates for the period. Translation gains and loss are included in the foreign currency translation
adjustment account.
Investments in foreign associated companies and any related debt and foreign exchange forward contracts are
translated into Canadian dollars at the rate of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date. Unrealized translation gains
and losses are reported in a separate component of shareholders’ equity as a foreign currency translation adjustment.
See note 2, Changes in Accounting Policy and note 8, Interest Rate Swap and Foreign Exchange Hedge Transactions.

Deferred Selling Commissions
Selling commissions paid on mutual fund securities sold on a DSC basis are recorded at cost and are amortized on a
straight-line basis over a period that corresponds with the applicable DSC schedule (which ranges from three to seven
years). Unamortized deferred selling commissions are written down to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the
expected future revenue on an undiscounted basis.
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Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, which is composed of furniture and equipment, computer hardware, leasehold improvements
and equipment under capital lease, is stated at cost, net of accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed on the
following methods based on the estimated useful lives of these assets:
Furniture and equipment
Computer hardware
Leasehold improvements
Computer equipment under capital lease

20% declining balance
30% declining balance
straight-line over term of lease
straight-line over term of lease

Goodwill and Management Contracts
The purchase price of acquisitions accounted for under the purchase method and the purchase price of investments
accounted for under the equity method are allocated based on the fair values of the net identifiable assets acquired,
including management contracts. The excess of the purchase price over the values of such assets is recorded as
goodwill. Management contracts have been determined to have an indefinite life.
Goodwill and management contracts are not amortized, but are subject to impairment tests on at least an annual
basis. Goodwill is allocated to the reporting units and any impairment is identified by comparing the carrying value of a
reporting unit to its fair value. If any impairment is indicated, then it is quantified by comparing the carrying value of
goodwill to its fair value, based on the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit. As of November 30, 2004,
AGF has completed its annual impairment testing on the carrying values of goodwill and management contracts. No
impairment losses were required to be recognized as a result of this testing.

Finite Life Intangible Assets
Finite life intangible assets, which are composed of customer contracts, relationships and investment advisory contracts,
computer software, television production and program rights, are stated at cost, net of accumulated amortization.
Amortization is computed on the following methods based on the estimated useful lives of these assets:
Customer contracts and relationships
Investment advisory contracts
Computer software
Television production
Program rights
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Mortgages, Consumer Loans and Allowances
Mortgage loans are carried at amortized cost less principal repayments less any holdbacks, net of an allowance for
mortgage losses. Interest income from mortgages is recorded on an accrual basis. Accrued but uncollected interest on
uninsured mortgages is reversed when loans are placed on a non-accrual basis.
Consumer loans are carried at amortized cost less principal repayments, net of allowance for consumer loan losses.
Interest income from consumer loans is recorded on an accrual basis. Loans are classified as non-accrual when, in the
opinion of management, there is reasonable doubt as to the collectibility, either in whole or in part, of interest or principal
or when principal or interest is past due 90 days, except where the loan is both well-secured and in the process of collection. In any event, a loan that is insured by the Federal Government or an agency thereof is classified as non-accrual
when principal or interest is past due 365 days, or in the case of other mortgage loans, when they are contractually in
arrears for 180 days. Thereafter, interest income is recognized on a cash basis only after specific provision for losses has
been recovered and provided there is no further doubt as to the collectibility of the principal.
The allowance for mortgage and consumer loan losses consists of both specific and general provisions. Specific provisions relate to individual loans that, in the opinion of management, are necessary to reflect the estimated realizable
value of the particular loan. General provisions are based on management’s assessment of probable, unidentified losses
in the portfolio that have not been captured in the determination of the specific provisions. The assessment includes
general economic factors and geographic exposure.

Stock-Based Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments
The Company has stock-based compensation plans as described in note 13(a). The Company utilizes the fair value-based
method of accounting for stock-based compensation. The Company adopted this standard for the year ended November 30,
2003 on a prospective basis. The fair value of share-based compensation is recorded as a charge to net earnings with a
corresponding credit to contributed surplus.
The Company also has a share purchase plan under which employees can have a portion of their annual earnings
withheld to purchase the Company’s Class B non-voting shares. The Company matches a portion of these amounts.
The Company’s contribution vests immediately and is recorded as a charge to earnings.

Assets Under Management
The Company manages mutual fund and other investment assets owned by clients and third parties that are not reflected
on the consolidated balance sheet.

Earnings Per Share
The Company uses the treasury stock method for calculating diluted earnings per share. The diluted earnings per
share calculation considers the impact of employee stock options and other potentially dilutive instruments, as
described in note 14.

Guarantees
Effective December 1, 2003, the Company adopted CICA Accounting Guideline 14, “Disclosure of Guarantees” (“AcG 14”),
which requires a guarantor to disclose significant information about certain types of guarantees that it has provided,
including certain types of indemnities and indirect guarantees of indebtedness to others, without regard to the likelihood
of whether it will have to make any payments under the guarantees. The disclosure required by AcG 14 is in addition to
the existing disclosure required for contingencies and is provided in note 22.
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Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year. Actual amounts could differ from these estimates.
Key areas of estimation where management has made difficult, complex or subjective judgments, often in respect
of matters that are inherently uncertain, are the provision for useful lives of depreciable assets, loan loss provisions and
the recoverability of property, equipment, goodwill and intangible assets using estimates of future cash flows. In addition,
the Company has made significant investments in companies or businesses, some of which have experienced operating
losses. Significant changes in the assumptions, including those with respect to future business plans and cash flows,
could change the recorded amounts by a material amount. In addition, further operating losses of certain investees
could result in impairment of these investments.

Note 2: Changes in Accounting Policy
Hedging Relationships
On December 1, 2003, AGF adopted CICA Accounting Guideline 13, “Hedging Relationships” (“AcG 13”), which addresses
the identification, designation, documentation and assessment of effectiveness of hedging transactions for the purpose
of applying hedge accounting as described in note 8.
Under this guideline the Company is required to document its hedging transactions and demonstrate that the
hedges are sufficiently effective in order to continue to be able to use hedge accounting for positions hedged with derivatives.
The Company reviewed its hedging relationships as of December 1, 2003 and determined that its cross-currency
swap transaction and certain interest rate swap transactions do not qualify for hedge accounting. As such, the Company
recorded these swaps at fair value, which increased both assets and liabilities as at December 1, 2003 by $1.4 million.
The deferred asset is being amortized over the remaining term of the swap and the expense of such amortization for the
year ended November 30, 2004 was $0.2 million (2003 - nil). A credit of $0.2 million (2003 - nil) on the mark-to-market of
the swap transactions has been netted against interest expense for the year ended November 30, 2004. In each subsequent reporting period, the change in fair value of these swaps will be recorded as income or expense for the period.
Certain other interest rate swaps entered into by AGF Trust Company are designated as hedges, and the interest
payable or receivable under the swap transactions is accrued and recorded as interest expense.
Throughout 2003 and most of 2004, foreign exchange forward contracts were used to hedge the investment in Smith
& Williamson Holdings Limited (“S&WHL”). These contracts were designated as hedges and qualified for hedge accounting.
Any unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses on the forward contracts were recorded in a separate component of
shareholders’ equity as a foreign currency translation adjustment. When these contracts matured in late 2004, they were
not renewed.

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (VIEs)
In June 2003, the CICA issued AcG 15, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” AcG 15 provides guidance for applying
consolidation principles to certain entities that are subject to control on a basis other than ownership of voting interests.
AcG 15 is effective for all annual and interim periods beginning on or after December 1, 2004. The company is currently
reviewing certain relationships to determine if any of these would require consolidation. Consolidation of these entities
would not have a significant impact on net income of the Company.
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Note 3: Trust Company
(a) Mortgages and Consumer Loans
The Trust Company’s principal business activities are mortgage and consumer loans and deposit taking. Details relating to
these activities are as follows:
$(000s)

Variable
rate
Residential mortgage loans
Commercial mortgage loans
Total mortgage loans
Consumer loans

$

2,018
–
2,018
425,957
$ 427,975

Term to maturity
1 year
1–5
or less
years
$ 154,875
9,524
164,399
–
$ 164,399

Less allowance for loan losses
Impaired loans included in above
Less specific allowance for loan losses

$ 111,814
7,230
119,044
–
$ 119,044

$

$

Over 5
years

2004
total

2003
total

155
–
155
–
155

$ 268,862
16,754
285,616
425,957
711,573
4,267
$ 707,306
$
1,892
597
$
1,295

$ 202,625
12,776
215,401
281,860
497,261
2,943
$ 494,318
$
1,506
257
$
1,249

2004
total

2003
total

The change in the allowance for loan losses is as follows:
$(000s)

Balance, beginning of year
Write offs
Recoveries
Provision for loan losses
Balance, end of year

$

$

2,943
(1,361)
131
2,554
4,267

$

$

2,208
(1,249)
17
1,967
2,943

As at November 30, 2004, the Company’s mortgage portfolio was composed of a combination of fixed rate and
variable rate residential mortgages, of which $182.2 million is insured, with a weighted average term to maturity of 1.4
years and a weighted average yield of 5.95%. Consumer loans have floating interest rates based on prime.
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(b) Interest Rate Swaps
To hedge its exposure to fluctuating interest rates, AGF Trust Company has entered into interest rate swap transactions
with three Canadian chartered banks as noted below. The swap transactions expire between December 1, 2004 and
November 30, 2009 and involve the exchange of either the one-month bankers’ acceptance rate or the three-month
bankers’ acceptance rate, to receive fixed interest rates. As at November 30, 2004, the aggregate notional amount of the
swap transactions was $555.2 million. The aggregate fair value of the swap transactions, which represents the amount
that would be received by AGF Trust Company if the transactions were terminated at November 30, 2004, was $6.9 million (2003 - AGF Trust would have received $2.4 million).

Notional amount of swap
$

Maturity date

7,000,000
63,500,000
107,000,000
138,700,000
137,000,000
102,000,000

Fixed interest rate received

2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009

3.16%
3.06% - 4.17%
2.35% - 4.57%
3.00% - 5.11%
3.17% - 4.43%
3.49% - 4.59%

(c) Trust Company Deposits
$(000s)

Demand
Deposits

$

3,863

Term to maturity
1 year
1–5
or less
years
$ 173,597

$ 580,734

$

Over 5
years

2004
total

2003
total

3,038

$ 761,232

$ 535,200

As at November 30, 2004, deposits were composed substantially of guaranteed investment certificates with a
weighted average term to maturity of 2.4 years and a weighted average interest rate of 3.89%.
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Note 4: Investment in Associated Company
On December 2, 2002, the merger of NCL and Smith & Williamson Holdings Limited (“S&WHL”) and the cash subscription by the
Company of $70.0 million of new capital in the enlarged business were completed. With the completion of the merger and subscription, the Company held a 30.0% interest in S&WHL. As at November 30, 2004 the Company held a 31.6% interest in S&WHL.
S&WHL provides independent private client investment management, financial advisory and accounting services in the U.K.
The Company recognized a pre-tax capital gain of $12.8 million in the year ended November 30, 2003 on the disposition
of its investment in NCL with respect to the completion of the above transaction.
The investment is being accounted for by the equity method, with the Company’s share of the results of operations of
S&WHL included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of purchase. The purchase price allocation and
consideration paid in December 2002 are summarized as follows:
$(000s)
Net assets acquired
Net tangible assets
Customer contracts and relationships
Goodwill
Future income taxes

$

$
Consideration paid (including acquisition costs)
Cash
Shares in NCL

$
$

22,453
107,777
21,369
(32,334)
119,265

70,598
48,667
119,265

For the year ended November 30, 2004, the Company’s share of the net earnings of S&WHL, net of amortization of
customer contracts and relationships, amounted to $2.2 million (2003 - $0.1 million) and the Company received dividends of
$3.6 million (2003 - $1.1 million).

Note 5: Acquisitions
(a) Acquisition of Cypress Capital Management Ltd.
On June 30, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares of Cypress Capital Management Ltd.
(“Cypress”) for consideration of $26.1 million, including $0.1 million of acquisition costs. The acquisition has been
accounted for by the purchase method of accounting, with the results of operations of Cypress included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date of the acquisition. In addition to the future payments detailed below, there is also
potential additional consideration due three years after the completion of the acquisition, subject to Cypress achieving
certain revenue levels. These amounts are not determinable at the present time. The acquired business, which is based
in Vancouver, is an investment counselling firm for high-net-worth individuals and institutions. The value attributed to
customer contracts is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 15 years.
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The fair value of the net assets acquired and consideration paid are summarized as follows:
$(000s)
Net assets acquired
Cash
Other assets
Customer contracts
Goodwill
Current liabilities
Future income tax

$

$
Consideration paid (including acquisition costs)
Cash
285,553 AGF Class B non-voting shares issued
Future payments due June 30, 2005
Future payments due June 30, 2006

$

$

351
1,625
28,480
7,269
(1,351)
(10,287)
26,087

7,887
5,200
6,500
6,500
26,087

(b) Acquisition of P.J. Doherty & Associates Co. Ltd.
On January 15, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the shares of P.J. Doherty & Associates Co. Ltd.
(“P.J. Doherty”) for consideration of $12.2 million, including $0.3 million of acquisition costs. The acquisition is being accounted
for by the purchase method of accounting, with the results of operations of P.J. Doherty included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date of acquisition. Cash consideration paid amounted to $9.4 million, with future payments of
$2.8 million due within one year. A portion of these future payments is contingent on the business maintaining certain
revenue levels. There is also potential additional consideration that may become payable based on revenue growth during
the two-year period subsequent to completion of the acquisition. These amounts are not determinable at the present time.
The acquired business, which is based in Ottawa, is an investment counselling firm for high-net-worth individuals and
institutions. The value attributed to customer contracts is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 15 years.
The fair value of the net assets acquired and consideration paid are summarized as follows:
$(000s)
Net assets acquired
Cash
Other assets
Customer contracts
Goodwill
Current liabilities
Future income tax

$

$
Consideration paid (including acquisition costs)
Cash
Future payments due within one year

$
$
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468
318
13,015
3,360
(233)
(4,701)
12,227

9,451
2,776
12,227
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(c) Acquisition of Consort Information Systems Limited
On April 17, 2003, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Investmaster Group Limited, acquired all of the
outstanding shares of Consort Information Systems Limited (“CISL”) for consideration of $9.4 million, including acquisition costs of $0.4 million. Cash consideration paid, including acquisition costs, amounted to $8.3 million, with a future
payment of $1.1 million due on January 31, 2006. CISL is based in the U.K. and is a supplier of customized software to
the U.K. private client stockbroking industry. The acquisition is being accounted for by the purchase method of accounting,
with the results of operations of CISL included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. The
value attributed to the acquired software is being amortized on a straight-line basis over five years.
The fair value of the net assets acquired and consideration paid are summarized as follows:
$(000s)
Net assets acquired
Cash
Other current assets
Property and equipment
Software
Goodwill
Liabilities
Future income taxes

$

$
Consideration paid (including acquisition costs)
Cash
Payment due January 31, 2006

$
$

809
1,889
264
9,473
1,150
(1,337)
(2,842)
9,406

8,339
1,067
9,406

(d) Acquisition of Third-Party Administration Business from The Toronto-Dominion Bank
On January 31, 2002, the Company acquired The Toronto-Dominion Bank’s third-party shareholder record-keeping and
fund valuation business for cash consideration of $25.5 million, including acquisition costs of $0.5 million. The transaction
was an asset purchase, with the entire purchase price being assigned to customer contracts and relationships.
The purchase price was subject to a clawback based on client revenues received during the 12-month period ending
January 31, 2003. Based on this provision, a repayment of purchase price in the amount of $6.6 million was received by
the Company in the third quarter of fiscal 2003 and was recorded as a reduction in the value of customer contracts and
relationships acquired.
(e) Acquisition of Jewelstone Systems Inc.
On September 15, 2002, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of Jewelstone Systems Inc. for consideration
of $59.7 million, including acquisition costs of $0.5 million, with potential payments to a maximum of $5.0 million
payable on or before December 31, 2004, conditional on the achievement of certain operational targets.
Subsequent to the determination of the above purchase equation, additional payments of $2.0 million were made to
the vendors during 2004 (2003 - $3.0 million) based on the achievement of operational targets set out in the share purchase
agreement. These payments were recorded as an increase in goodwill.
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Note 6: Property, Equipment and Other Intangible Assets
$(000s)

November 30, 2004
Property and equipment
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Computer hardware
Computer equipment under capital lease
Total property and equipment

Cost

$

Other intangible assets
Computer software
Total other intangible assets

22,446
20,780
48,950
4,237
96,413

$

53,663
53,663
$ 150,076

$(000s)

November 30, 2003
Property and equipment
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Computer hardware
Computer equipment under capital lease
Total property and equipment

Accumulated
amortization

Cost

$

21,705
19,255
46,840
4,191
91,991

13,976
11,108
35,488
1,772
62,344

Net

$

35,376
35.376
$

97,720

18,287
18,287
$

Accumulated
amortization

$

11,912
9,242
32,673
837
54,664

8,470
9,672
13,462
2,465
34,069

52,356

Net

$

9,793
10,013
14,167
3,354
37,327

Other intangible assets
Computer software
Television production and program rights
Total other intangible assets

48,675
6,955
55,630
$ 147,621
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26,233
6,955
33,188
$

87,852

22,442
–
22,442
$

59,769
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Note 7: Long-Term Debt
$(000s)

November 30
Bank loans
Fully amortizing term loan
Revolving term loan
Notes payable due November 22, 2004
Notes payable due April 30, 2013
Payment re CISL due January 31, 2006 (note 5c)
Cypress payments due June 30, 2005 (note 5a)
Cypress payments due June 30, 2006 (note 5a)
Capital lease obligations
Loan notes due September 30, 2004

2004

$

Less: amount included in current liabilities
$

35,400
43,300
–
19,327
1,067
6,500
6,500
2,165
–
114,259

2003

$

70,800
54,300
4,970
21,230
1,067
–
–
2,883
235
155,485

44,553

41,371

69,706

$ 114,114

(a) Bank Loans
Fully Amortizing Term Loan
The Company has arranged a fully amortizing five-year term loan with a Canadian chartered bank, which is repayable in
equal quarterly instalments over the period of 20 quarters following advance plus interest payable. This loan will be fully
repaid by November 20, 2005. The facility can be funded by direct advances and/or bankers’ acceptances (“BAs”). At
November 30, 2004, the Company has drawn the facility in the form of a 91-day BA at an effective interest rate of 3.12%
per annum.
Revolving Term Loan
The Company has arranged a 10-year prime rate-based revolving term loan to a maximum of $150.0 million with a
Canadian chartered bank. Under the loan agreement, the Company is permitted to avail the revolving term loan by direct
advances and/or bankers’ acceptances. The revolving term loan is available at any time for a period of 364 days from
commencement of the loan (the “Commitment Period”). The expiration of the current Commitment Period is June 30, 2005.
However, the Company may request by April 15, 2005, and prior to April 15 in any calendar year thereafter, a recommencement of the 10-year term at the expiry of the then-current Commitment Period. No repayment of the principal
amount outstanding pursuant to the revolving term loan is required during the first three years of the then-applicable
term. Thereafter, the loan balance shall be repaid in minimum monthly instalments of at least one-eighty-fourth of the
amount of principal outstanding.
As at November 30, 2004, the Company has drawn $43.3 million against the available loan amount in the form of
three- to 90-day BAs at an effective interest rate of 2.90% per annum.
Security for the bank loans includes a specific claim over the management fees owing from the mutual funds
(subject to the existing claims of related limited partnerships) for which the Company acts as manager and, depending
upon the amount of the loan outstanding, an assignment of AGF’s investments in 20/20 Financial Corporation and AGF
International Company Limited.
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(b) Notes Payable Due April 30, 2013
Proceeds from notes payable issued to Multi-Fund Income Trust (“Multi-Fund”) were used to pay sales commissions
incurred on the sale of units of the Global Strategy funds purchased on a contingent deferred sales charge basis from
July 30, 1997 to June 30, 1998.
The notes payable bear interest at 5% per annum, accrued daily and payable monthly. Monthly repayments of interest
and principal are required until the full principal amount of the notes is repaid or April 30, 2013, whichever comes first.
Monthly repayments are determined based on a specified percentage (up to 0.47% per annum) of the net asset value of
mutual fund assets financed by Multi-Fund (“Distributed Securities”). Monthly repayments will also include all contingent deferred sales charges received by the Company related to Distributed Securities.
Multi-Fund has no recourse to any other assets of the Company to satisfy any amount payable in respect of the notes.
(c) Participation Units
After the notes payable referred to in note 7(b) are repaid in full and prior to April 30, 2013, Multi-Fund will be entitled to
up to 0.52% per annum of the net asset value of then-outstanding Distributed Securities (together with all contingent
deferred sales charges relating to the Distributed Securities, if any) under the terms of the participation fee agreement
with Multi-Fund.
The participation units have been accounted for as a deferred credit. If the notes payable are repaid in full prior to
April 30, 2013, the deferred credit will be amortized over the remaining period to that date. Otherwise, the entire amount
will be recognized as revenue on April 30, 2013.
(d) Capital Lease Obligations
The capital lease is based on an interest rate of 5.35% per annum and expires August 31, 2007. Minimum annual lease
payments are as follows:
$(000s)
2005
2006
2007

$

848
848
636

(e) Minimum Principal Debt Repayments
$(000s)
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter

(f)

$ 44,553
10,261
2,524
8,088
8,088
40,745

Interest Rate Sensitivity
The effect of a 1% change in interest rates would increase or decrease annual pre-tax income of the Company by
approximately $0.5 million.
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Note 8: Interest Rate Swap and Foreign Exchange Hedge Transactions
To fix the interest rate paid on a portion of its long-term debt, the Company has entered into three interest rate swap transactions (the “Swap Transactions”) with a Canadian chartered bank. The Swap Transactions expire between October 28, 2007 and
January 27, 2008. They involve the exchange of three-month bankers’ acceptance floating interest rates for fixed interest rates
of 5.47% to 5.56% per annum. As at November 30, 2004, the aggregate notional amount of the Swap Transactions was $30.2
million (2003 - $39.8 million). The aggregate fair value of the Swap Transactions, which represents the amount that would be
paid by the Company if the transactions were terminated at November 30, 2004, was $1.2 million (2003 - $1.7 million).
To hedge its currency exposure and to fix the interest rate on borrowings in connection with a Japanese yen-denominated
investment, the Company has entered into a cross-currency swap transaction that expires on November 29, 2006. It involves
the exchange of three-month bankers’ acceptance floating interest rates on a notional amount of CDN $2.9 million for a fixed
interest rate of 0.56% per annum on a notional amount of JPY ¥256.0 million. The aggregate fair value of the cross-currency
swap transaction, which represents the amount that would be paid by the Company if the transaction was terminated at
November 30, 2004, was nil (2003 - $0.2 million would have been received by the Company).
To hedge its currency exposure in connection with its investment in U.K.-based S&WHL, an associated company, the
Company entered into foreign exchange forward contracts to sell U.K. £50.0 million on November 29, 2004 at an average
exchange rate of 2.1820 for CDN $109.1 million. Effective July 29, 2004, the Company redesignated 85% of the U.K. £50.0 million
as being a hedge of its currency exposure in connection with its investment in S&WHL.
On July 29, 2004 the Company also entered into a foreign exchange forward contract to purchase U.K. £7.5 million on
November 29, 2004 at an exchange rate of 2.3902 for CDN $17.9 million. The fair value of this contract has been recorded in
income, effectively offsetting the 15% portion of the U.K. £50.0 million contract, which has also been recorded in income.
The Company subsequently determined that it would no longer hedge its currency exposure in connection with its investment in S&WHL. As such, when all the swaps related to the S&WHL investment matured on November 29, 2004, the
Company did not enter any new swaps.

Note 9: Fair Value of Financial Instruments
2004

2003
Carrying
Estimated
value
fair value

Carrying
value

Estimated
fair value

Mortgages and consumer loans
Short-term investments
Other investments

$ 707,306
20,110
7,532

$ 710,326
24,438
8,751

$ 494,318
19,065
14,604

$ 497,174
21,453
16,550

Deposits

$ 734,948
$ 761,232

$ 743,515
$ 767,985

$ 527,987
$ 535,200

$ 535,177
$ 540,606

$(000s)

November 30

The estimated fair value of loans and deposits is determined by discounting the future cash flow at prevailing interest rates
for loans and deposits with similar terms and applicable credit risks.
The estimated fair value of securities with an available trading market is based on their quoted market value.
Investments that have no trading market are valued based on management estimates using common valuation techniques.
Other financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company are recorded at cost, which approximates fair value.
Short-term investments include $19.7 million (2003 - $18.3 million) in investments in various AGF Funds.
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Note 10: Limited Partnership Financings
Selling commissions paid on certain sales of mutual fund securities of the AGF Funds made on the DSC basis (“DSC securities”)
have been financed by limited partnerships held by third-party investors. Up to November 30, 2004, such limited partnerships
have financed selling commissions of approximately $440 million in respect of such DSC securities. The Company is obligated to
pay the relevant limited partnership an annual fee of 0.47% to 0.90% of the net asset value of DSC securities. The limited partnerships also receive any deferred sales charges resulting from the redemption of such securities. These obligations continue
as long as such DSC securities remain outstanding except for certain of the limited partnerships, in which case the obligation
terminates at various dates from December 31, 2006 to December 31, 2020. For certain limited partnerships, the obligation is
secured by the Company’s mutual fund management contracts to the extent of the particular obligation.
The Company is responsible for the management and administration of the limited partnerships. These services are provided
in the normal course of operations and are recorded at the amount of consideration agreed to by the parties. The amount of fees
received in 2004 was $0.8 million (2003 - $0.9 million). As at November 30, 2004, the net asset value of DSC securities financed
by the limited partnerships was $2.2 billion (2003 - $2.7 billion).

Note 11: Income Taxes
(a) The Company’s effective income tax rate is composed as follows:

Years ended November 30

2004

Canadian corporate tax rate
Change in future federal and provincial income tax rates
Acquisition of tax-related benefits (net)
Rate differential on earnings of subsidiaries
Tax benefit of losses of foreign subsidiaries not recognized
Amortization of customer contracts and relationships
Tax-exempt investment income
Other

36.0%
–
(18.5)
(12.8)
1.8
1.5
(1.6)
2.5

36.7%
34.31
–
(8.2)
0.9
0.6
(2.3)
0.5

8.9%

62.5%

Effective income tax rate
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(b) Significant components of the provision for future income tax expense attributable to continuing operations are as follows:
$(000s)

Years ended November 30

1

2004

2003

Change in temporary differences
Tax rate changes

$

(37,891)
–

$

(29,012)
40,1671

Future income tax expense (benefit)

$

(37,891)

$

11,155

This is a result of the repeal of scheduled Ontario corporate income tax rate reductions for 2004 to 2006 and the increase in the Ontario income tax rate to 14%
effective on January 1, 2004.

(c) The tax effects of temporary differences that gave rise to future tax liabilities and assets are as follows:
$(000s)

November 30

2004

2003

Future income tax liability
Deferred sales commissions
Deferred revenue
Undepreciated capital cost less than carrying values
Loss carryforwards
Expenses deductible in future periods
Share issue costs
Goodwill and management contracts
Other

$

(113,845)
2,210
(2,896)
3,753
12,291
434
(163,829)
(501)

$

(133,930)
2,206
(3,898)
2,006
1,753
862
(154,294)
33

Future income tax liability

$

(262,383)

$

(285,262)

(d) As at November 30, 2004, certain subsidiaries of the Company have accumulated aggregate income tax losses of
approximately $26.9 million (2003 - $18.2 million) that may be used to reduce taxable income in the future. These tax
loss carryforwards expire as follows:

$10.4 million
$16.5 million

2007 to 2011
no expiry date

The potential tax benefits of $16.5 million of these losses have not been recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
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Note 12: Capital Stock
(a) Authorized Capital
The authorized capital of AGF consists of an unlimited number of AGF Class B non-voting shares (“Class B shares”) and
an unlimited number of AGF Class A voting common shares (“Class A shares”). The Class B shares are listed for trading
on the Toronto Stock Exchange.
(b) Movement During the Year
The change in capital stock is summarized as follows:

Number of
shares issued

$(000s)

Amount

Class B Shares
Balance, November 30, 2002
Issued through dividend reinvestment plan
Stock options exercised
Purchased for cancellation

91,043,109

$

9,047
1,665,867
(503,300)

Balance, November 30, 2003

92,214,723

Issued on acquisition of a subsidiary
Issued through dividend reinvestment plan
Stock options exercised
Purchased for cancellation

285,553
12,405
326,582
(2,099,800)

Balance, November 30, 2004

90,739,463

390,840
141
6,343
(2,156)

$

395,168
5,200
214
2,575
(9,032)

$

394,125

Class A Shares
Balance, November 30, 2004 and 2003
Total stated capital, November 30, 2004 (2003 - $395,168)

57,600

–
$

394,125

(c) Class B Shares Purchased for Cancellation
AGF has obtained applicable regulatory approval to purchase for cancellation, from time to time, certain of its Class B
shares through the facilities of the Toronto Stock Exchange. Under this issuer bid the Company may purchase up to 10%
of the public float outstanding on the date of receipt of regulatory approval or up to 7.6 million Class B shares. Present
approval for such purchases extends through to February 2005. During the year ended November 30, 2004, 2,099,800
Class B shares were purchased at a cost of $37.4 million and the excess paid over the book value of the shares purchased
for cancellation was charged to retained earnings. It is the Company’s intention to file for a one-year extension of the
regulatory approval to purchase Class B shares for cancellation.
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Note 13: Stock-Based Compensation and Other Stock-Based Payments
(a) Stock Option Plans
AGF has established stock option plans for senior employees under which stock options to purchase an aggregate maximum of 6,591,088 Class B non-voting shares could have been granted as at November 30, 2004. The stock options are
issued at a price not less than the market price of the Class B non-voting shares immediately prior to the grant date.
Stock options are vested to the extent of 25% to 33% of the individual’s entitlement per annum, or in some instances
100% vest at the end of the term of the option.
The change in stock options during 2003 and 2004 is summarized as follows:

Number of
options
Class B Share Options
Balance outstanding, November 30, 2002
Options granted
Options cancelled
Options exercised
Balance outstanding, November 30, 2003
Options granted
Options cancelled
Options exercised
Balance outstanding, November 30, 2004

Weighted
average
exercise price

4,983,947

$

12.60

130,000
(178,000)
(1,665,867)

$
$
$

17.24
20.54
3.81

3,270,080

$

16.84

790,000
(166,894)
(326,582)

$
$
$

18.84
22.08
7.89

3,566,604

$

17.86
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The following summarizes information about stock options outstanding as at November 30, 2004:

Number of
options
outstanding

Range of
exercise prices
$
$
$
$
$
$

2.77
14.52
16.87
18.94
20.73
23.53

to
to
to
to
to
to

$
$
$
$
$
$

14.18
14.52
18.46
18.94
22.53
27.73

Weighted
average
remaining life

704,712
725,000
440,200
691,667
598,300
406,725
3,566,604

1.2 years
4.8
4.2
8.6
4.5
3.5
4.5

Weighted
average
exercise price
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

10.99
14.52
17.68
18.94
22.46
27.27
17.86

Number of
options
exercisable
702,712
–
272,700
–
314,900
320,637
1,610,949

Weighted
average
exercise price
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

10.98
–
17.79
–
22.43
27.14
17.59

The outstanding stock options have expiry dates ranging from January 2005 to December 2013. The Company or
employee is required to meet performance criteria for certain of the options to vest.
During 2004 the Company granted 790,000 options (2003 - 130,000) and recorded $1.8 million (2003 - $0.1 million)
in compensation expense and contributed surplus in respect of the options granted during the year. The fair value of
options granted during 2004 has been estimated at between $2.72 and $5.41 per share (2003 - $6.10 per share) using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The following range of assumptions were used to determine the fair value of the
options on the date of grant:
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected share price volatility
Option term

4.09% - 4.63%
1.68% - 1.86%
31.95% - 33.19%
7.0 to 10.0 years

(b) Share Purchase Plan
Under the Company’s share purchase plan, eligible employees can have a percentage of their annual earnings withheld,
subject to a maximum of 6%, to purchase the Company’s Class B non-voting shares. The Company matches up to 60% of
the amounts contributed by employees. All contributions are used by the plan trustee to purchase common shares on
the open market. Shares purchased with Company contributions vest immediately. The Company’s contributions are
recorded in payroll costs. For the year ended November 30, 2004 these expenses totalled $0.6 million (2003 - $0.5 million).
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Note 14: Earnings Per Share
The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
($000s, except per share amounts)

Years ended November 30

2004

2003

Numerator
Net income for the year

$

77,287

$

44,016

Denominator
Weighted average number of shares – basic
Dilutive effect of employee stock options
Weighted average number of shares – diluted

91,315,426
482,807
91,798,233

91,926,350
920,429
92,846,779

Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

0.85
0.84

$
$

0.48
0.47

Note 15: Investor Compensation
On December 16, 2004, the Ontario Securities Commission (“OSC”) reached an agreement with four mutual fund companies
(including AGF) over allegations of market timing in Canada’s mutual fund industry. As a result of the agreement, AGF has
agreed to compensate individual investors in certain international funds targeted by market timers between August 2000 and
June 2003. Included in selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended November 30, 2004 is $31.0 million in
expenses relating to compensation of AGF unitholders.

Note 16: Integration Costs
During fiscal 2003, Unisen Inc. moved the majority of its staff to one location and reviewed its staffing requirements. Also, the
Company reassessed its lease termination costs in light of a change in the condition of the Toronto office real estate market.
Based on this review the Company recorded a $5.4 million integration charge for the year ended November 30, 2003, consisting
of $4.6 million in lease termination costs and $0.8 million in severance costs.

80

AGF Management Limited / Annual Report 2004

Note 17: Agreements with Mutual Funds
The Company acts as manager for the AGF Funds and receives management and advisory fees from the AGF Funds in
accordance with the respective agreements between the funds and the Company. In return, the Company is responsible for
management and investment advisory services and all costs connected with the distribution of securities of the funds.
Substantially all the management and advisory fees the Company earned in 2004 and 2003 were from the AGF Funds. As at
November 30, 2004, the Company had $22.0 million (2003 - $22.4 million) receivable from the AGF Funds. The Company also
acts as trustee for the AGF Funds that are mutual fund trusts.
The Company directly provides unitholder services to the funds and is compensated for such services. These services
are provided in the normal course of operations and are recorded at the amount of consideration agreed to by the parties.
The aggregate unitholder services costs absorbed and management and advisory fees waived by the Company during the
year were approximately $6.6 million (2003 - $4.8 million).

Note 18: Related Party Transactions
The Company has entered into certain transactions with entities, the partners or senior officers of which are directors of the
Company. During 2004, total amounts paid by the Company to these related parties aggregated $0.1 million (2003 - $0.1 million).

Note 19: Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Interest payments in 2004 were $24.2 million (2003 - $28.3 million).
Income tax payments in 2004 were $51.8 million (2003 - $52.9 million).

Note 20: Segment Information
AGF has three reportable segments: Investment Management Operations, Fund Administration Operations and Trust
Company Operations. The investment management segment provides investment management and advisory services and is
responsible for the management and distribution of the AGF investment products. Fund administration offers fund administrative services and transfer agency solutions to institutional clients, including the Company’s group of mutual funds. AGF
Trust Company offers a wide range of trust services, including GICs, mortgages, investment loans and RRSP loans. AGF’s
reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services.
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The results of the reportable segments are based upon the internal financial reporting systems of AGF. The accounting
policies used in these segments are generally consistent with those described in the summary of significant accounting
policies detailed in note 1.
$(000s)

For the year ended
November 30, 2004
External revenue
Intersegment revenue
Segment revenue
Operating expenses
Amortization
Integration costs
Segment income (loss)
before taxes
Included in external revenue
Interest revenue
Total assets

$(000s)

For the year ended
November 30, 2003
External revenue
Intersegment revenue
Segment revenue
Operating expenses
Amortization
Integration costs
Segment income (loss)
before taxes
Included in external revenue
Interest revenue
Total assets

Investment
Fund
management administration
operations
operations

Trust
company
operations

Intersegment
Other elimination

Total

$ 515,904
4,431
520,335
295,401
144,777
–

$

80,333
48,771
129,104
114,939
15,486
–

$

41,451
1,149
42,600
31,461
1,203
–

$

2,224
–
2,224
6,114
–
–

$

–
(54,351)
(54,351)
(54,351)
–
–

$

639,912
–
639,912
393,564
161,466
–

$

$

(1,321)

$

9,936

$

(3,890)

$

–

$

84,882

$
–
$ 108,802

$
$

–
–

$
40,238
$ 2,167,846

Intersegment
Other elimination

Total

80,157

$
815
$ 1,070,067

$
31
$ 159,488

$ 39,392
$ 829,489

Investment
Fund
management administration
operations
operations

Trust
company
operations

$ 476,838
4,808
481,646
223,125
140,037
–

$

76,583
51,917
128,500
116,323
14,462
5,400

$

34,687
1,192
35,879
29,481
912
–

$

12,724
–
12,724
9,740
2,046
–

$

–
(57,917)
(57,917)
(57,917)
–
–

$

600,832
–
600,832
320,752
157,457
5,400

$ 118,484

$

(7,685)

$

5,486

$

938

$

–

$

117,223

$
885
$ 1,123,294

$
96
$ 144,122

$
6
$ 108,692

$
$

–
–

$
31,523
$ 1,966,996

$ 30,536
$ 590,888
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Note 21: Commitments
The Company is committed under operating leases for office premises and equipment that require approximate minimum
annual cash rental payments as follows:
$(000s)
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter

$

6,918
6,594
6,505
4,925
3,673
29,801

AGF Trust Company has outstanding mortgage commitments, at rates of interest prevailing at the time the commitments
were issued, of $57.7 million as at November 30, 2004 (2003 - $14.3 million). Any interest rate commitment has a term of less
than 60 days.

Note 22: Guarantees
The Company, under an indemnification agreement with each of the directors of the Company as well as directors of the
mutual fund corporations, has agreed to indemnify the directors against any costs in respect of any action or suit brought
against them in respect of the proper execution of their duties. To date, there have been no claims under these indemnities
and the Company does not anticipate that any will occur.

Note 23: Contingent Liabilities
There exists certain claims and potential claims against the Company, including potential class action lawsuits related to the
Company’s agreement with the OSC. None of these claims or potential claims are expected to have a material adverse effect
on the consolidated financial position of the Company.
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2004

2003

2002

2001

Operations $(000s)
Total revenue
Net income
Dividends

639,912
77,287
37,474

600,832
44,016
27,150

654,103
119,839
22,967

639,994
163,754
19,577

Financial position $(000s)
Working capital (deficit)
Long-term debt
Shareholders’ equity
Return on equity1

53,597
69,706
914,366
8.5%

49,611
114,114
903,360
4.9%

95,287
225,403
887,566
14.5%

(9,950)
165,481
764,707
26.3%

0.85
0.41
10.08

0.48
0.295
9.79

1.34
0.255
9.74

1.84
0.22
8.56

22,747

23,168

23,549

27,827

Per share ($)
Net income - basic
Dividends
Book value
Mutual fund assets under management
at year-end $(000,000s)2

1

As percentage of average shareholders’ equity for the year.

2

Harmony Pools included for years 2001 and later.
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2000

1999

1998

1997

1996

1995

508,681
95,931
14,092

356,703
61,710
11,642

288,822
48,777
9,970

236,759
40,489
6,491

178,993
22,403
6,272

87,628
16,896
6,159

(86,692)
278,051
480,091
25.1%

55,348
72,048
284,244
23.8%

40,186
81,422
233,383
22.9%

30,903
38,000
192,173
26.3%

5,476
60,000
115,565
25.2%

84,638
72,950
62,366
29.5%

1.23
0.18
5.78

0.80
0.15
3.64

0.64
0.13
3.03

0.55
0.09
2.53

0.37
0.10
1.85

0.34
0.13
1.26

26,979

18,705

15,015

12,429

10,075

4,471
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The Corporation establishes corporate governance practices that are consistent with the Toronto Stock Exchange’s Guidelines
for Corporate Governance and the proposed National Policy 58-201. The Corporation will continue to review its corporate governance practices in light of ongoing developments in this area. In particular, the Corporation will monitor recent guideline
changes proposed by the securities regulatory authorities. The Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged in highly regulated businesses and must comply with all the legislative and regulatory requirements for such businesses, including those
of securities commissions and regulators of financial institutions.

The Board of Directors
Mandate of the Board
The Corporation’s Board has responsibility for the stewardship of the Corporation and discharges that responsibility by supervising the management of the business and monitoring the affairs of the Corporation. The Board has a written mandate, which
is reviewed annually. The Board reviews and discusses with management, at least annually, all material relating to the strategic plan, which takes into account the risks and opportunities of the business. The Board also approves any transaction having
a significant impact on the strategic plan and other significant decisions that affect the Corporation and its subsidiaries. The
Board assesses the effectiveness of the Board Committees based on reports from the Committees. The Board appoints the
Chief Executive Officer and other senior management and discusses succession planning with management.
The Board meets with senior executives on a regular basis in order to receive and consider reports on the affairs of the
Corporation. The Board expects these reports to be comprehensive, accurate and timely. The Board approves all material
communications to shareholders, including press releases. The Board receives and approves annual and interim reports to
shareholders, including annual and interim financial statements and management discussion and analysis. The Board met
17 times for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2004. Each of C. Warren Goldring, Winthrop H. Smith, Jr. and David King
missed one regularly scheduled Board meeting during the year. All other directors attended all regularly scheduled Board
meetings.

Board Representation and Independence from Management
The Board comprises nine members, the majority of whom are unrelated to the Corporation and its subsidiaries. This means
they are free from any interest and any business or other relationship that could reasonably be perceived to materially
interfere with their ability to act within the best interest of the Corporation, other than interest arising from shareholding.
The independent directors on the Board are: Douglas L. Derry, Stuart E. Eagles, David King, Winthrop H. Smith, Jr. and
William Morneau. Mr. Walter A. Keyser is an outside director.
Representatives of management on the Board are: Mr. C. Warren Goldring, Mr. W. Robert Farquharson and Mr. Blake C.
Goldring, all of whom are “significant shareholders” of the Corporation. Mr. C. Warren Goldring, the Corporation’s Chairman,
together with trusts for the benefit of the Goldring family, owns, directly or indirectly, 80% of the outstanding AGF Class A
voting common shares of the Corporation. Mr. W. Robert Farquharson, the Corporation’s Vice-Chairman and Chief Investment
Officer, owns, directly or indirectly, the remaining 20% of the AGF Class A voting common shares. Each of Messrs.
C.W. Goldring and W.R. Farquharson also owns a significant number of AGF Class B non-voting shares.
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Committees of the Board
The Board has established three Committees: the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, the Audit Committee
and the Compensation Committee. The mandate of each Committee is described below. Each independent director, who
serves as Chairman of a Committee, is responsible for directing the meetings of the Committee and for ensuring that the
roles and responsibilities of the Committee have been met. The Chairman of the Committee is also responsible for reporting
to the Board on those matters that the Committee dealt with since the last regular meeting of the Board. Each Committee
regularly examines its effectiveness in fulfilling its roles and responsibilities and reports its findings to the Board. The
Committees may convene meetings without management present whenever the Committees feel it is necessary. Each
Chairman also acts as a liaison between management and the Board.
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has three members: Stuart E. Eagles (Chair), Walter A. Keyser
and William Morneau, all of whom are outside directors and two of whom are unrelated.
This committee develops the Corporation’s approach to governance issues and is actively involved in assessing the
Corporation’s compliance with corporate governance guidelines, including evaluating the size of the Board, its Committees
and its members. This committee regularly reviews corporate governance developments and makes recommendations to
the Board on all such matters. It also develops the mandates for the Board and for each Board Committee, which are
reviewed annually by the Committee in order to make recommendations for any changes to the Board. The committee
also reviews and approves all individual directors’ requests to engage an outside advisor at the Corporation’s expense.
This committee also develops programs and makes recommendations for the continuing education of existing
directors and the orientation of new directors. The Corporation regularly provides directors with updates on the mutual
fund and financial services industries and briefings on industry practices relating to corporate governance and other
relevant issues.
This committee recommends proposed new directors and establishes appropriate criteria for directors. The committee
also reviews director compensation for adequacy and form of compensation, ensuring compensation is appropriate for
the responsibilities and risks assumed by the directors. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee approves
the Corporation’s disclosure policy, which includes standards for communicating with analysts and the public. Additionally,
the committee develops a position description for the Chief Executive Officer, which is reviewed every three years.
During the year ended November 30, 2004, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee met three times.
These meetings included sessions at which management was not present.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has three members: Douglas L. Derry (Chair), David King and Winthrop H. Smith, Jr., all of whom
are outside and unrelated directors. All members of the Audit Committee are financially literate.
This committee is directly responsible for overseeing the work of the Corporation’s external auditors. It is also
responsible for recommending the appointment of the Corporation’s external auditors, subject to shareholder approval,
as well as reviewing their independence and objectivity. The committee pre-approves all non-audit services performed by
the Corporation’s external auditors to ensure that the performance of those services will not compromise their objectivity
or independence. The Audit Committee is responsible for conducting reviews and inquiries of the Corporation’s management
and the internal and external auditors, as it deems necessary. The purpose of such a review or inquiry is to establish that the
Corporation and its subsidiaries are applying appropriate systems of internal controls to address the principal risks of the
Corporation, and to fulfill legislative and regulatory requirements.
In a report to the Audit Committee, the Corporation’s management reported that procedures will be implemented in
early 2005 for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints regarding internal accounting controls or auditing matters,
and the confidential, anonymous submission by the Corporation’s employees regarding questionable accounting and
auditing matters.
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The effectiveness of internal controls in managing principal risk exposures is reviewed and evaluated by the
Corporation’s internal auditors, who report to the Audit Committee at least quarterly. The Audit Committee reviews and
makes a report to the Board before the approval of the annual and interim financial statements and Management’s
Discussion and Analysis (MD&A).
The Audit Committee routinely meets with the internal and external auditors without management’s presence.
During the year ended November 30, 2004, the Audit Committee met four times.
Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee has three members: William Morneau (Chair), David King and Winthrop H. Smith, Jr., all
of whom are outside and unrelated directors. The Compensation Committee reviews and approves executive officers’
base salaries, bonuses, long-term incentives, retirement benefits and other compensation. The Compensation Committee
also reviews processes and policies for establishing compensation and benefit levels, including the granting of stock
options. Directors are encouraged to own AGF Class B non-voting shares by participating in the AGF Share Purchase
Plan. Executive officers who are also directors do not receive any compensation for their services in their capacities as
directors. For further information, refer to AGF’s Annual Information Form, which can be accessed at www.sedar.com.
During the year ended November 30, 2004, the Compensation Committee met five times.

Shareholder Communication
The Corporation believes that shareholder communication and feedback are essential. This belief is based on the stake
shareholders have in the Corporation’s business and the importance to shareholders of ensuring that trading prices and
volumes of the Corporation’s Class B non-voting shares are not adversely affected by a lack of information in the marketplace.
The Chief Executive Officer or another senior officer of the Corporation promptly responds to shareholder inquiries.

Code of Ethics
All directors, officers and employees of the Corporation and its subsidiaries are subject to a Code of Ethics that outlines the
standards by which they must conduct themselves in their business dealings. Compliance with the Code is a matter of utmost
importance and a breach of any of its provisions is grounds for a warning, revision of responsibilities, suspension or dismissal,
with or without notice, depending on the particular circumstances. The Code sets out specific rules dealing with conflicts of
interest, confidential information, insider trading, personal trading by investment managers and others with access to information used in making investment decisions, and a variety of other matters. From time to time, as appropriate, the Code
is supplemented by memoranda delivered to directors, officers and employees clarifying or expanding provisions of the
Code. All directors, officers and employees of the Corporation and its subsidiaries are required to review and sign the
Code of Ethics annually.
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AND AGF TRUST COMPANY
Douglas L. Derry, FCA 4
Stuart E. Eagles 5, 6
W. Robert Farquharson, CFA
Blake C. Goldring, CFA 2
C. Warren Goldring 1
Walter A. Keyser
David King
William Morneau 7
Winthrop H. Smith, Jr.

AGF MANAGEMENT LIMITED
AND AGF FUNDS INC.
C. Warren Goldring

W. Robert Farquharson, CFA

AGF MANAGEMENT LIMITED

Vice-Chairman &
Chief Investment Officer

MUTUAL FUND CORPORATIONS
AND TRUSTS
Philippe Casgrain, Q.C.
Clive H.J. Coombs
W. Robert Farquharson, CFA
C. Warren Goldring
David Hale
H. Ian Macdonald
Joseph E. Martin
John B. Newman 3, 4

President & Chief Executive Officer

Scott D. Colbourne, CFA

W. Robert Farquharson, CFA

Senior Vice-President

P.O. Box 50
Toronto-Dominion Centre
Toronto, ON M5K 1E9
Web Site: AGF.com
E-mail: tiger@AGF.com
Tel: 416 367-1900

Vice-Chairman &
Chief Investment Officer

Anthony Genua, CFA

CHINA REPRESENTATIVE OFFICE

Senior Vice-President

Clive H.J. Coombs

Keith Graham, CFA

Executive Vice-President

Senior Vice-President

Suite 18-2, CITIC Building
19 Jianguomenwai Street
Beijing 100004, P.R. China

Randy Ambrosie

Martin Hubbes, CFA

Executive Vice-President,
Sales & Marketing

Senior Vice-President

Judy G. Goldring, LL.B

Senior Vice-President

Senior Vice-President &
General Counsel

Stephen W. Way, CFA

Greg Henderson, CA

Charles Oliver, CFA

Senior Vice-President &
Chief Financial Officer

Vice-President

SUBSIDIARIES

Patricia Perez-Coutts, CFA

AGF FUNDS INC.

Beatrice Ip

Vice-President

Senior Vice-President,
Corporate Secretary & Chief Auditor

Cameron Scrivens

P.O. Box 50
Toronto-Dominion Centre
Toronto, ON M5K 1E9

Chairman of the Board

Clive H.J. Coombs

Blake C. Goldring, CFA

Executive Vice-President

SUBSIDIARIES
AGF ASSET MANAGEMENT
ASIA LTD.
W. Robert Farquharson, CFA 3
Blake C. Goldring, CFA
Dr. Soo Ann Lee
Yong Siang Lee
Eng Hock Ong 8

AGF PRIVATE INVESTMENT
MANAGEMENT LIMITED

AGF INTERNATIONAL ADVISORS
COMPANY LIMITED
John L. Arnold
Joseph D. Casey
W. Robert Farquharson, CFA
C. Warren Goldring 3
Christopher Charles Lyttelton
Brian S. Perry
Ian Steers

UNISEN INC.

Merri Jones
President & Chief Executive Officer

Christine Hughes, CFA

Senior Vice-President

Vice-President

Margaret Shaw, CFA
Vice-President

Tristan Sones, CFA
Vice-President

Level 11
Akasaka Tokyu Building
2-14-3 Nagata-cho
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-0014
Japan

AGF TRUST COMPANY

P.O. Box 331
Toronto-Dominion Centre
Toronto, ON M5K 1E9

Zoran Vojvodic, CFA
Portfolio Manager

AGF TRUST COMPANY

AGF PRIVATE INVESTMENT
MANAGEMENT LIMITED

1200 McGill College Avenue
Suite 2000
Montreal, Quebec H3B 4G7

Mario Causarano, CA
President & Chief Operating Officer

CYPRESS CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Robert Smuk

Suite 1700-1055
West Georgia Street
P.O. Box 11136
Vancouver, BC V6E 3P3

President & Chief Executive Officer

INVESTMASTER GROUP LIMITED

Tom Brady
Managing Director

P.J. DOHERTY
& ASSOCIATES LIMITED

56 Sparks Street
Suite 700
Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5A9

1

Chairman of the Board of AGF
Management Limited
2
Chairman of the Board of AGF
Trust Company
3
Chairman of the Board
4
Chairman of the Audit Committee
5
Chairman of the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee
of AGF Management Limited
6
Chairman of the Conduct Review
Committee of AGF Trust Company
7
Chairman of the Compensation
Committee of AGF Management
Limited
8
Pending regulatory approval

JAPAN BRANCH OFFICE

AGF INTERNATIONAL ADVISORS
COMPANY LIMITED

34 Molesworth Street
Dublin 2, Ireland

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENTS

Computershare Trust
Company of Canada
1 800 564-6253
STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

Toronto Stock Exchange,
AGF.nv

AGF ASSET MANAGEMENT
ASIA LTD.
80 Raffles Place
#44-03, UOB Plaza 1
Singapore 048624
UNISEN INC.
2920 Matheson Blvd. East
Mississauga, ON L4W 5J4
INVESTMASTER GROUP LIMITED

Princes House
95 Gresham Street
London EC2V 7NA, England
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